

UNIVERSIDADE DA BEIRA INTERIOR Ciências da Saúde

Estrogenic Regulation of the SCF/c-KIT System in Prostate Cells: a Relationship with Prostate Cancer?

Marília Isabel Neto Figueira

Dissertação para obtenção do Grau de Mestre em **Ciências Biomédicas** (2° ciclo de estudos)

Orientador: Prof.ª Doutora Sílvia Socorro Co-orientador: Prof. Doutor Cláudio Maia

Covilhã, Outubro de 2014

Dedicatória

Dedico esta dissertação às pessoas mais importantes da minha vida, os meus pais.

"Vocês deixaram os vossos sonhos para que eu sonhasse.

Derramaram lágrimas para que eu fosse feliz.

Perderam noites de sono para que eu dormisse tranquila.

Acreditaram em mim, apesar dos meus erros.

Jamais esqueçam que eu levarei para sempre um pedaço do vosso ser dentro do meu próprio ser..."

Agradecimentos

É um privilégio, para mim, poder agradecer a todos aqueles que tornaram a realização deste projecto possível e bem sucedido.

Em primeiro lugar, quero agradecer à melhor orientadora com que eu e este projecto poderíamos contar, a Professora Doutora Sílvia Socorro. Estou grata por todo o empenho, dedicação e sugestões sábias durante o acompanhamento deste percurso. Foi incansável até ao último minuto, obrigada por acreditar no meu trabalho. Agradeço ao meu co-orientador, o Professor Cláudio Maia, pela disponibilidade e espírito positivo que sempre transmitiu.

Agradeço a todos os colegas de laboratório pelas sugestões valiosas, que fizeram a diferença, em particular à Sara Correia e à Cátia Vaz, pelo tempo que dedicaram a acompanhar-me no laboratório, e ao Carlos Gaspar pela ajuda na aquisição de imagens de microscopia de confocal. De um modo particular ainda, quero agradecer ao Henrique Cardoso por ter sido mais que um colega de laboratório, um amigo. Um amigo que aturou os meus momentos bons e menos bons, um amigo que festejou comigo um bom resultado e que chorou comigo um fracasso. Agradeço também à Mestre Catarina Ferreira pela ajuda na aquisição de imagens de imagens de microscopia de fluorescência.

Agradeço aos meus pais, por toda a força e sábios conselhos, pelos valores que me transmitiram e que fazem de mim aquilo que hoje sou, e por acreditarem em mim, às vezes até mais que eu própria. Agradeço aos meus irmãos, cunhadas e sobrinhos por estarem sempre do meu lado, com a palavra ou atitude certa em cada momento.

Agradeço aos meus amigos de agora e de sempre, pela paciência com que tantas vezes aceitaram a minha ausência e por continuarem lá sempre que eu precisava.

Agradeço também a todas as pessoas que disseram: "não vais conseguir", "é impossível", "não vale a pena", porque me motivaram ainda mais para seguir em frente e nunca desistir.

Agradeço à Mia e ao Pepe pela calma que me transmitiram quando mais precisei.

E agradeço a Deus, porque acredito que há sempre uma força invisível aos olhos dos homens e da ciência que nos move e nos ajuda nas alturas mais difíceis.

Obrigada a todos!

"Algo só é impossível até que alguém decida provar o contrário."

Albert Einstein

"Nunca tenha certeza de nada, porque a sabedoria começa com a dúvida."

Freud

Resumo

O cancro da próstata é o tipo de doença oncológica mais comum entre os homens, a qual tem apresentado uma incidência crescente ao longo dos anos. O desenvolvimento e a progressão do cancro da próstata têm vindo a ser relacionados com o ambiente hormonal intraprostático, assim como com os níveis séricos hormonais. Apesar do papel dos androgénios como agentes estimuladores do crescimento do cancro da próstata se encontrar bem descrito, também os estrogénios parecem estar envolvidos na carcinogénese da próstata. Contudo, a dualidade dos possíveis efeitos dos estrogénios na próstata é um assunto que tem vindo a ganhar consistência nos últimos anos. Se alguns estudos defendem que os estrogénios são agentes causadores do cancro da próstata, outras evidências, igualmente fortes, indicam que estas hormonas podem ser protectoras contra o cancro da próstata. O receptor tirosina cinase c-KIT e o seu ligando, o Stem Cell Factor (SCF), são fortes estimuladores da proliferação celular num vasto conjunto de tecidos, e a interacção ligando/receptor parece ter um papel fundamental na carcinogénese. Para além disso, tem sido demonstrado que os estrogénios regulam a expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT em vários tecidos, desconhecendo-se o que acontece ao nível da próstata. O presente trabalho tem como objectivo avaliar o papel dos estrogénios na regulação do sistema SCF/c-KIT em linhas celulares de próstata humana e em próstata de rato in vivo. Pretende-se igualmente averiguar o consequente efeito dos estrogénios na proliferação e apoptose de células da próstata.

Para isso, linhas celulares de próstata humana neoplásicas (LNCaP, DU145 e PC3) e não-neoplásicas (PNT1A) foram mantidas em cultura na presença ou ausência de 100 nM de 17 β -estradiol (E₂) durante diferentes períodos de tempo. Por outro lado, ratos machos adultos da estirpe Wistar foram injectados diariamente com veículo (controlo) ou com E₂ (250 mg/dia/kg), durante 5 dias. Após o tratamento, os animais foram eutanasiados sob anestesia e removeram-se as próstatas, as quais foram pesadas e fixadas em paraformaldeído 4 % ou, alternativamente, congeladas em azoto líquido. A análise da expressão do SCF e do c-KIT em resposta ao tratamento com E₂ foi efectuada através de PCR em tempo real, Western Blot e imunocito/histoquímica. O índice de proliferação celular na próstata de rato foi estimado com base na marcação do Ki67 usando imunohistoquímica de fluorescência. O rácio proteico Bax (pro-apoptótica)/Bcl-2 (anti-apoptótica), a expressão da caspase-9, do Fas e do Fas-L, o ensaio enzimático da actividade da caspase-3 e o ensaio do TUNEL foram as metodologias usadas para avaliar a apoptose.

Os resultados obtidos revelaram uma diminuição da expressão do SCF e do c-KIT em resposta ao E₂, quer em linhas celulares de próstata humana, quer na próstata de rato *in vivo*, o que sugere uma restrição da proliferação das células prostáticas em resposta aos

estrogénios. Este facto foi confirmado *in vivo* pela diminuição do peso da próstata e pela redução do índice de proliferação Ki67 observadas no grupo tratado. Para além disso, a actividade enzimática da capase-3 encontrou-se aumentada em resposta ao E₂, o que indica que os estrogénios induziram a apoptose das células da próstata de rato. O aumento da expressão do sistema Fas nos animais tratados com E₂ sugere o envolvimento da via extrínseca na apoptose induzida pelos estrogénios.

Em conclusão, o presente trabalho demonstrou que os estrogénios diminuem a expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT em células neoplásicas e não neoplásicas de próstata humana, assim como, na próstata de rato. Ficou ainda estabelecido que os estrogénios têm efeitos anti-proliferativos e pro-apoptóticos na próstata, os quais provavelmente dependem da diminuição da expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT. Por fim, estes resultados constituem uma base molecular fundamental de suporte ao papel protector dos estrogénios no desenvolvimento do cancro da próstata.

Palavras-chave

Apoptose, cancro da próstata, DU145, estrogénios, c-KIT, LNCaP, PC3, PNT1A, proliferação, ratos, "Stem Cell Factor".

Resumo Alargado

O cancro da próstata é o tipo de doença oncológica mais comum entre os homens, a qual afecta principalmente os homens com idades acima dos 50 anos. Com o envelhecimento da população e o aumento da esperança média de vida, a incidência desta doença tem vindo a aumentar, pelo que se torna necessário continuar a melhorar as suas formas de diagnóstico e tratamento.

O desenvolvimento e a progressão do cancro da próstata têm vindo a ser relacionados com o efeito das hormonas presentes na circulação, assim como, com o ambiente hormonal no interior da próstata. Os androgénios desempenham um papel crucial no desenvolvimento da próstata com acções importantes desde o período embrionário. O papel dos androgénios como agentes estimuladores do aparecimento e desenvolvimento do cancro da próstata encontra-se bem descrito, e há várias décadas que as terapias de privação androgénica são a base dos tratamentos de neoplasias prostáticas. Embora, os estrogénios sejam essencialmente conhecidos como hormonas femininas, estes estão presentes no organismo masculino, ainda que em quantidades muito pequenas. Na verdade, também os estrogénios parecem estar envolvidos na carcinogénese prostática. Contudo, a dualidade dos possíveis efeitos dos estrogénios na próstata é um assunto que tem vindo a ganhar consistência nos últimos anos. Se por um lado alguns estudos defendem que os estrogénios são agentes causadores de cancro da próstata, por outro lado, há também fortes evidências experimentais que apontam estes esteróides como protectores contra o cancro da próstata.

O c-KIT é um receptor tirosina cinase cujo ligando específico é uma citocina, o "Stem Cell Factor" (SCF). O c-KIT apresenta diferentes isoformas, as quais diferem, entre outros aspectos, pela sua localização subcelular, na membrana ou no citoplasma da célula. A forma completa do c-KIT, e com efeitos melhor documentados, corresponde à forma membranar. No entanto, o c-KIT apresenta também uma forma truncada (tr-KIT), originada por mecanismos de uso alternativo do promotor, a qual se localiza no citoplasma e contém apenas com a parte do domínio cinase e o terminal-C, e uma forma solúvel, originada por clivagem proteolítica, contendo apenas o domínio extracelular. Tal como o c-KIT, também o SCF existe na sua forma membranar (mSCF) e na forma solúvel (sSCF) libertado para o meio extracelular.

A interacção do SCF com o c-KIT provoca a dimerização do receptor, activando a sua actividade de tirosina cinase e iniciando um conjunto de vias de transdução de sinal. O sistema SCF/c-KIT está envolvido na estimulação da proliferação num vasto conjunto de tecidos, e a sua interacção parece ter um papel fundamental na carcinogénese. Para além disso, tem sido demonstrado que os estrogénios regulam a expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT em vários tecidos, desconhecendo-se o que acontece ao nível da próstata.

O presente trabalho tem como objectivo avaliar o papel dos estrogénios na regulação do sistema SCF/c-KIT em linhas celulares de próstata humana e em próstata de rato *in vivo*. Pretende-se igualmente averiguar o consequente efeito dos estrogénios na proliferação e apoptose de células da próstata.

Para isso, foram efectuados estudos experimentais in vitro e in vivo. Na abordagem in vitro, linhas celulares de próstata humana neoplásicas (LNCaP, DU145 e PC3) e não neoplásica (PNT1A) foram mantidas em cultura na presença ou ausência de 100 nM de 17β -estradiol (E₂) durante 0, 12, 24 e 48 horas. No segundo caso, ratos machos adultos da estirpe Wistar foram injectados diariamente com veículo (controlo) ou com E2 (250 mg/dia/kg), durante 5 dias. Após o tratamento, os animais foram eutanasiados sob anestesia e removeram-se as próstatas, as quais foram pesadas e fixadas em paraformaldeído 4 % ou, alternativamente, congeladas em azoto líquido. Seguidamente, procedeu-se à extracção de RNA e proteína total das linhas celulares e dos tecidos prostáticos. Sintetizou-se DNA complementar (cDNA) a partir do RNA extraído. A análise da expressão do SCF e do c-KIT em resposta ao E₂ foi efectuada através de PCR em tempo real, Western Blot e imunocitoquímica (linhas celulares) ou imunohistoquímica (ratos). Relativamente à estimulação in vivo, procedeu-se ainda à avaliação do efeito dos estrogénios na proliferação e apoptose celular na próstata de rato. O índice de proliferação celular na próstata de rato foi estimado com base na marcação do Ki67 usando imunohistoquímica de fluorescência. O rácio proteico Bax (pro-apoptótica)/Bcl-2 (anti-apoptótica), a expressão da caspase-9, do Fas e do Fas-L, o ensaio enzimático da actividade da caspase-3 e o ensaio do TUNEL foram as metodologias usadas para avaliar a apoptose.

Como estratégia inicial confirmou-se expressão do c-KIT e do SCF em todas as linhas celulares de próstata humana e na próstata de rato, quer ao nível do mRNA quer da proteína. Os resultados obtidos confirmaram a expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT, e das suas várias isoformas, em todas as linhas celulares estudadas e igualmente na próstata de rato, ainda que apresentando um expressão diferencial. Relativamente às linhas celulares, verificou-se uma diminuição da expressão proteica do SCF e c-KIT (incluindo as formas membranares e truncadas) em resposta ao E₂ nas células PNT1A, LNCaP e DU145, ao contrário do que aconteceu nas células PC3, nas quais o tratamento aumentou a expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT. Estes resultados foram obtidos por Western Blot e confirmados por imunicitoquímica. A estimulação com E₂ também diminuiu a expressão do SCF e do c-KIT na próstata de rato, contudo, este efeito só foi observado para a forma membranar; as formas truncadas do c-KIT (30 and 50 kDa) apresentaram expressão aumentada em resposta ao E₂. Ainda assim, a função destas isoformas permanece desconhecida, sendo a forma membranar a que tem sido relacionada com a estimulação da proliferação celular.

A diminuição da expressão do c-KIT e do seu ligando após estimulação com o E_2 sugere uma acção dos estrogénios na restrição da proliferação das células prostáticas. Este facto foi confirmado *in vivo*, pela diminuição do peso da próstata e pela redução do índice de proliferação Ki67 observadas no grupo tratado. Para além disso, a actividade enzimática da capase-3 também se encontrou aumentada em resposta ao E_2 o que indica que os estrogénios induziram a apoptose das células da próstata de rato. Numa tentativa de clarificar quais os mecanismos moleculares envolvidos na apoptose induzida pelo E_2 estudou-se a expressão de elementos chave nas diferentes vias apoptóticas. O aumento da expressão do sistema Fas nos animais tratados com E_2 e a ausência de alterações na expressão da caspase-9, sugerem o envolvimento da via extrínseca da apoptose.

Em conclusão, o presente trabalho demonstrou que os estrogénios diminuem a expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT em células neoplásicas e não neoplásicas de próstata humana, assim como, na próstata de rato. Ficou ainda estabelecido que os estrogénios têm efeitos anti-proliferativos e pro-apoptóticos na próstata de rato, os quais, provavelmente dependem da diminuição da expressão do sistema SCF/c-KIT. Por fim, estes resultados constituem uma base molecular fundamental de suporte ao seu papel protector no desenvolvimento do cancro da próstata.

Abstract

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most common type of oncological disorder in men, for which an increasing incidence has been reported. Development and progression of PCa have been highly related with the circulating and intraprostatic hormonal milieu. Despite the classical role of androgens as stimulating agents in PCa growth, currently, estrogens also have been implicated in the prostate carcinogenesis. However, a duality for the possible role of estrogens in prostate cells has been gaining consistency over the last years. If some studies defend that estrogens are potential causative agents of PCa, other strong evidences indicate that these steroids may be protective against PCa. The tyrosine kinase receptor c-KIT and its ligand, the Stem Cell Factor (SCF) are powerful agents stimulating cell proliferation in a broad range of tissues, and the SCF/c-KIT interaction seems to play a crucial role in carcinogenesis. Moreover, it has been shown that estrogens modulate the expression of SCF/c-KIT system in several tissues, except the prostate. The present work aims to evaluate the role of estrogens regulating the SCF/c-KIT expression in human prostate cell lines and in rat prostate *in vivo*. The consequent effects on proliferation and apoptosis of prostatic cells will also be determined.

Neoplastic (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3) and non-neoplastic (PNT1A) human prostate cell lines were cultured in presence or absence of 100 nM 17 β -estradiol (E₂) for different time periods. Adult male Wistar rats were daily injected with vehicle (control) or E₂ (250 mg/day/kg) for 5 days. After treatment, animals were euthanized under anesthesia and prostates were collected, weighted and either fixed in 4 % paraformaldehyde or snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. The expression analysis of SCF and c-KIT in response to E₂ was performed by means of real-time PCR, Western Blot and immunocito/histochemistry. The proliferation in rat prostate cells was estimated via fluorescent immunohistochemistry of Ki67. The protein ratio of Bax (pro-apoptotic)/Bcl-2 (anti-apoptotic), the expression of caspase-9, Fas and Fas-L, the enzymatic activity of caspase-3 and a TUNEL assay were used to evaluate apoptosis.

The results obtained showed a decreased expression of both SCF and c-KIT in response to E_2 -treatment either in human prostate cells or rat prostate *in vivo*, which suggested a restricted proliferation of prostate cells in response to estrogens. This fact was confirmed *in vivo* by the diminished prostate weight and reduced Ki67 proliferation index observed in the E_2 -treated group. In addition, the enzymatic activity of caspase-3 was increased in response to E_2 , which indicates that estrogens induced apoptosis in rat prostate. The enhanced expression of the Fas system in the prostate of E_2 -treated animals suggests the involvement of the extrinsic pathway in the estrogen-induced apoptosis. In conclusion, the present work demonstrated that estrogens down-regulate the SCF/c-KIT system in neoplastic and non-neoplastic human prostate cells and in rat prostate in vivo. Moreover, estrogens have anti-proliferative and apoptosis-inducer effects in prostate exerted likely through the down-regulation of the SCF/c-KIT system. These findings also provided a body of evidence supporting the protective role of estrogens against development of PCa.

Keywords

Apoptosis, DU145, estrogens, c-KIT, LNCaP, PC3, PNT1A, PCa, proliferation, rat, Stem Cell Factor.

Table of Contents

	I. Introduction	1
	1. Anatomy and Physiology of Prostate Gland: Brief Overview	3
	2. Prostate Cancer	5
	3. Hormonal Actions and Prostate Carcinogenesis	8
	3.1. Androgens	8
	3.2. Estrogens	11
	4. The Stem Cell Factor (SCF)/c-KIT System	15
	4.1. The c-KIT Receptor: Molecular Biology and Signaling	15
	4.2. Molecular and Functional Aspects of SCF, the c-KIT Ligand	17
	4.3. The Role of SCF/c-KIT System in Prostate and PCa	19
	4.4. Hormonal Regulation of the SCF/c-KIT System	20
11	. Objectives	23
		0 7
	I. Material and Methods	. 27
	1. Cells Lines and Animals	28
	1.1. Neoplastic and Non-neoplastic Human Prostate Cell Lines	28
	1.2. Animals	28
	2. Human Prostate Cell Culture and In Vitro Hormonal Treatment	28
	3. In vivo Hormonal Treatment	29
	4. RNA Extraction	29
	5. cDNA Synthesis	30
	6. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	30
	7. Real-time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR)	31
	8. Total Protein Extraction	32
	9. Western Blot (WB)	
		33
	10. Fluorescent Immunocitochemistry	33 33
	10. Fluorescent Immunocitochemistry 11. Fluorescent Immunohistochemistry	33 33 34
	 10. Fluorescent Immunocitochemistry 11. Fluorescent Immunohistochemistry 12. Proliferation Index 	33 33 34 34
	 10. Fluorescent Immunocitochemistry 11. Fluorescent Immunohistochemistry 12. Proliferation Index 13. Caspase-3 Activity Assay 	33 33 34 34 35
	 10. Fluorescent Immunocitochemistry 11. Fluorescent Immunohistochemistry 12. Proliferation Index 13. Caspase-3 Activity Assay 14. Terminal Deoxynucleotidyl Transferase dUTP Nick-End Labeling (TUNEL) 	33 33 34 34 35 35

15. Statistical Analysis	
IV. Results	37
1. Characterization of the SCF/c-KIT System Expression in Human Prostate Ce Prostate	ll Lines and Rat 39
1.1. SCF and c-KIT are Expressed in Both Neoplastic and Non-neoplastic Pro	ostate Cell Lines 39
1.2. The SCF/c-KIT System is Expressed in Rat Prostate	41
2. Estrogens Regulate the Expression of SCF/c-KIT System in Neoplastic and N Prostate Cell Lines	lon-neoplastic 43
3. Estrogenic Regulation of SCF/c-KIT System Expression in Rat Prostate	50
3.1. E_2 Down-Regulates the Expression of SCF and c-KIT in vivo	50
3.2. Diminished Expression of c-KIT in Response to E ₂ is Concomitant with I Prostate Weight, Diminished Proliferation and Increased Apoptosis	Decreased
V. Discussion	57
VI. Conclusion	65
VII. References	69
VIII. Publications and Communications	83
1. Articles in International Peer-Reviewd Journal	85
2. Oral Communications	85
3. Posters	85

List of Figures

Figure I-1. Localization of the prostate gland in the male reproductive system
Figure I-2. The zonal anatomy of the prostate gland (Eylert and Persad, 2012)4
Figure I-3. Schematic representation of c-KIT structure
Figure I-4. Schematic representation of SCF structure
Figure I-5. Hormonal regulation of SCF/c-KIT system in the testis (A) and ovary (B) 22
Figure IV-1. c-KIT mRNA expression in non-neoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCap, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines
Figure IV-2. Expression of full-length (145 kDa), and 50 and 30 kDa isoforms of c-KIT in non- neoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCap, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines 40
Figure IV-3. SCF mRNA expression in non-neoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines
Figure IV-4. SCF protein expression in non-neoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines
Figure IV-5. c-KIT mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression in rat prostate
Figure IV-6. SCF mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression in rat prostate
Figure IV-7. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on c-KIT mRNA expression in human prostate cell lines 43
Figure IV-8. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on c-KIT protein expression (full-length 145 kDa, and 50 and 30 kDa isoforms) in human prostate cell lines
Figure IV-9. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on c-KIT protein expression in prostate cell lines
Figure IV-10. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on SCF mRNA expression in prostate cell lines
Figure IV-11. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on SCF protein expression in prostate cell lines
Figure IV-12. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on SCF protein expression in prostate cell lines 49

Figure IV-13. Effect of E_2 on the mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression of c-KIT in rat prostate
tissue
Figure IV-14. Effect of E_2 on the mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression of SCF in rat prostate
tissue
Figure IV-15. Effect of E_2 treatment on animal weight (A) and prostate weight (B)
Figure IV-16. Proliferation in the prostate of control and E_2 -treated animals
Figure IV-17. Apoptosis in the prostate of control and E_2 -treated animals
Figure IV-18. Expression of apoptosis regulators in the prostate of control and E_2 -treated
animals

List of Tables

List of Abreviations

ADT	Androgen Deprivation Therapies
AR	Androgen Receptor
АТР	Adenosine TriPhosphate
BPH	Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CK18	Cytokeratin-18
CS-FBS	Charcoal-Stripped Fetal Bovine Serum
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEAS	Dehydroepiandrosterone Sulfate
DHT	Dihydrotestosterone
DRE	Digital Rectal Examination
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E ₁	Estrone
E ₂	17B-estradiol
E ₃	Estriol
ED	Endocrine Disruptor
EDTA	Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid
EGF	Endothelial Growth Factor
ER	Estrogen Receptor
ER-α	Estrogen Receptor Alpha
ER-B	Estrogen Receptor Beta
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FGF8	Fibroblast Growth Factor 8
GPR30/GPER	G-Protein-Coupled Receptor-30
IGFs	Insulin-like Growth Factors
IGFBP	Insulin-like Growth Factor Binding Protein
JAK/STAT	Janus Kinase/Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription
МАРК	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
mSCF	Membrane Stem Cell Factor
PAP	Prostatic Acid Phosphatase
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Saline
PCa	PCa
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction

PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PIA	Proliferative Inflammatory Atrophy
PI3K/AKT	Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT
PIN	Prostatic Intraepithelial Neoplasia
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl Fluoride
pNA	p-Nitro-Aniline
PLC-γ	Phospholipase-Cy
PSA	Prostatic Specific Antigen
PVDF	Polyvinylidene Difluoride
qPCR	Real-time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SCF	Stem Cell Factor
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate-PolyAcrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
sSCF	Soluble Stem Cell Factor
s-KIT	Soluble c-KIT
ТАР	Transit Amplifying Population
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
Tr-KIT	Truncated c-KIT
TRUS	Transrectal Ultrasound
TUNEL	Terminal Deoxynucleotidyl Transferase dUTP Nick-End Labeling
WB	Western Blot

I. Introduction

Partially published in:

Figueira MI#, Cardoso HJ#, Correia S, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2014). Hormonal regulation of c-KIT receptor and its ligand: implications for human infertility? Progress in Histochemistry and Cytochemistry (in press). DOI: 10.1016/j.proghi.2014.09.001 IF:5.909

Cardoso HJ#, Figueira MI#, Correia S, Vaz CV, Socorro S (2014). The SCF/c-KIT system in the male: survival strategies in fertility and cancer. Molecular Reproduction and Development (in press). DOI: 10.1002/mrd.22430 IF: 2.812

Both authors

Estrogenic Regulation of the SCF/c-KIT System in Prostate Cells: a Relationship with Prostate Cancer?

1. Anatomy and Physiology of Prostate Gland: Brief Overview

The prostate is an accessory gland of the male reproductive tract, with a walnut shape and size (Fig. I-1). This gland is located dorsally to the symphysis pubis, anterior to the rectum, and at the base of the urinary bladder. It surrounds the first part of urethra, known as prostatic urethra, and the two ejaculatory ducts (Lee et al., 2011;VanPutte et al., 2014).



Figure I-1. Localization of the prostate gland in the male reproductive system (adapted from (VanPutte et al., 2014)).

The prostate gland consists of divided tubulo-acinar glands, surrounded by a fibromuscular stroma. It is composed by the posterior and lateral regions, enclosed by a partial capsule, and by the anterior and apical regions, enclosed by the anterior fibromuscular stroma (Sooriakumaran et al., 2012;Young et al., 2014).

Several models were proposed to characterize the prostate anatomy. The currently most accepted divides the prostate in four distinct zones (Fig. I-2)(McNeal, 1981):

- A central zone, which surrounds the ejaculatory ducts, consisting of 20% of the prostate.
- A peripheral zone, consisting of, approximately, 70% of the gland. This zone makes up the bulk of the prostate.
- An anterior fibromuscular stroma, composed by fibromuscular tissue contiguous with the bladder, without glandular tissue.
- A transition zone, surrounding the proximal prostatic urethra, and consisting of about 5% of the glandular tissue.



Figure I-2. The zonal anatomy of the prostate gland (Eylert and Persad, 2012).

The epithelium of the prostate consists of three main types of cells: the secretory epithelial cells, the basal cells and the stem cells (Frick and Aulitzky, 1991). The presence of cells morphologically different from the smooth muscle was detected, more recently, and these cells were called interstitial cells of Cajal (Van der Aa et al., 2003;Shafik et al., 2005). The non-cellular stroma and connective tissue compose the extra-cellular matrix presenting elements that control prostatic development and function (Frick and Aulitzky, 1991).

The prostate is an exocrine gland, because it has the function of secrete components of seminal fluid, making this a nutritive and lubricating fluid medium in which spermatozoa are transported (Young et al., 2014). The prostatic fluid has alkaline properties that help to protect the spermatozoa from the acidic vas deferens fluid and the acidic environment of the female reproductive system (Guyton and Hall, 2006).

The prostatic secretions constitute, approximately, 30% of the semen (Guyton and Hall, 2006) and are related with its gelation, coagulation, and liquefaction, and some of the secreted proteins are involved in the coating and uncoating of spermatozoa and in interactions with cervical mucus (Aumuller and Seitz, 1990). Secreted products include ions like zinc and calcium, citrate, phosphate, citric acid, spermine, prostaglandins, cholesterol, seminin, clotting enzyme, profibrinolysin, the acid phosphatase, the prostatic acid phosphatase enzyme (PAP), used to assess prostate function, and the well-known prostatic specific antigen (PSA), the mainly indicator of prostatic disease (Frick and Aulitzky, 1991;Hayward and Cunha, 2000;Guyton and Hall, 2006). PSA is detected in bloodstream in case of pathology of the prostate, like chronic inflammation or cancer (Hayward and Cunha, 2000).

2. Prostate Cancer

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the third most frequent type of cancer after the cancers of the female breast and colorectal. Furthermore, PCa is the most common type of oncological disorder among men, in Europe, with an incidence of 214:1000 which has been increasing in last years. Moreover, 416.700 new cases has emerged and 92.200 men died, in Europe, in 2012, with PCa (Heidenreich et al., 2011;Ferlay et al., 2013). In the same year, only in Portugal, 6620 new cases of PCa emerged and it were estimated 1580 deaths (Ferlay et al., 2013;Miranda et al., 2013). The incidence and mortality of PCa differ with the geography, with many factors contributing to these variances (Ferlay et al., 2013;Tewari et al., 2014), but in all over the world, men that suffer from this terrible disease are losing its life quality.

PCa is a highly heterogeneous disease, both in terms of its pathology and clinical presentation, and presents several developmental stages. It starts to be localized in the prostate, with genetic aberrations, local invasion of extracellular matrix, but subsequently can progress to invasion of secondary organs. At the initial stages PCa is modulated by hormonal milieu and in later stages becomes resistant to hormonal modulation.

When cancer develops, the prostate structures become progressively less organized with smaller ducts and ultimately the gland may lose these structures entirely. With further growth, the tumors invade surrounding tissues and metastasize to the lymph nodes, bladder, and bone (Miller et al., 2003). In addition to structural changes, many molecular changes occur in PCa initiation and progression. The expression profile of many genes, namely, genes related with proliferation, apoptosis, and response to stress, is changed, due to genetic events that include epigenetic changes, chromosomal alterations, somatic mutations and alternative splicing (DeMarzo et al., 2003;Reynolds, 2008;Cheng et al., 2012). The cellular metabolism is also changed in PCa (Vaz et al., 2012;Zadra et al., 2013). Nevertheless, the metastatic potential of PCa is the most alertness problem of this type of cancer. Proliferation, neovascularization and extravasation at the primary site are events involved in metastasis (Clarke et al., 2009).

The majority of PCa cases are adenocarcinomas, which arise from the peripheral zone (approximately 70 %). On the other hand, the anterior fibromuscular stroma and the central zone are less related with cancer development, with, respectively, 25 % and 1-2 % of the cases (Hammerich et al., 2009;Lee et al., 2011;Sooriakumaran et al., 2012).

There are evidences that PCa arises slowly from proliferating stem cells or the transit amplifying population (TAP) from the basal compartment (Isaacs and Coffey, 1989). These stem cells differentiate into luminal cells in response to androgens. The TAP seems to expresses androgen receptor (AR). Moreover, *in vitro* stimulation of TAP with androgens promotes cells differentiation by inducing the expression of markers of luminal cells, such as cytokeratin-18 (CK18), AR, PAP and PSA. Additionally, androgens down-regulate the $\alpha_2\beta_1$ integrin expression, a molecule implicated in the maintenance of the immature basal cell phenotype (Heer et al., 2007). However, there is conflicting evidence regarding whether the tumors arise from basal cells or from the luminal epithelial cells (Wang et al., 2009;Lawson et al., 2010;Wang et al., 2013).

Indeed, PCa etiology remains largely unknown. Many factors can contribute to the development of this disease, but the best characterized are aging, ethnicity and familiar factors (Heidenreich et al., 2011; Tewari et al., 2014). The principal risk factor for PCa development is the aging (Tewari et al., 2014). Moreover, PCa is more frequently diagnosed in older men and they are more likely to die from the disease than younger men (Hoffman, 2012). In childhood, the human prostate is small, weighing around 2 g. Then, it undertakes exponential growth, at puberty, increasing to about 20 g of weight, due to the rise in serum testosterone levels, characteristic of this phase of life. After that, the weight of the prostate tends to become stable and remains constant until the 40-50 years old, age in which prostatic weight may begin to rise slowly (Berry et al., 1984; Guyton and Hall, 2006). This slowly increase in prostate weight frequently leads to the onset of Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia (BPH) (Berry et al., 1984), a condition characterized by the benign growth of the prostate gland from its normal size to a larger size that can be larger than 150 g (Powers and Marker, 2013). Although there are differences between BPH and PCa, these diseases have some commonalities, and there are evidences that men with BPH have an increased risk of PCa and PCa-related mortality (Orsted and Bojesen, 2013). The race/ethnicity also seems to be a PCa high risk factor, since African men present higher PCa incidence than other groups (Burks and Littleton, 1992; Mordukhovich et al., 2011). The heredity has an important role in PCa development, because the presence of affected first-degree relatives increases the PCa risk in men (Hemminki and Czene, 2002; Zeegers et al., 2003). Although these three factors are the main risk factors related with PCa, other may contribute to the disease only or in combination. Some of them include environmental factors, as the use of pesticides, dietary habits, lifestyle, inflammation and hormones (Giovannucci et al., 1997;Karan et al., 2008). In fact, exposure to pesticides showed to be related with PCa development (Lemarchand et al., 2014). Although some reports did not found correlation between obesity and PCa (Habel et al., 2000), others showed the opposite (Calle et al., 2003). Accordingly, it has been reported that a high-fat rich diet may contribute to PCa (Brasky et al., 2013). Some of the previous numbered factors like environmental, dietary and hormonal factors may contribute to PCa through inflammation (De Marzo et al., 2007;Karan et al., 2008). Some studies reported inflammation as a high risk factor for PCa (Roberts et al., 2004; Atala, 2014). Inflammation may contribute to the pathogenesis and development of cancers, since it can cause infiltrating cell, like leucocytes to release reactive oxygen species (ROS) that may destroy cellular structures and damage genome, which leads to activation of cell proliferation in order to supplant damaged cells, and to release of many cytokines that promote cell division,

angiogenesis and tissue repair. It can also contribute to destroy cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion, important factors in cancer progression (Coussens and Werb, 2002;Alberti, 2008;Acharya et al., 2010). Moreover, inflammation damages the prostatic epithelium, cause lesions with atrophic morphology, but the cells remain able to proliferate. This condition is named proliferative inflammatory atrophy (PIA) (De Marzo et al., 1999). Morphological transitions can lead to histological lesions causing prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), and it was shown that 40% of high-grade PIN lesions arise directly from PIA (Putzi and De Marzo, 2000). Thus, it is clear that PIA may be the linkage between inflammation and PCa.

PCa remains asymptomatic for a long time, which hinders the early screening of the disease. When symptoms become evident, it include urinary symptoms including hematospermia and hematuria, in localized PCA, and rectal obstruction, bone pain, and more systemic features of malignancy, in advanced disease (Tewari et al., 2014).

The PCa screening tests include, at first line, the physical examination with a digital rectal examination (DRE) and measurement of serum PSA. Based on these results, if there are suspicious findings, more sophisticated diagnostic techniques as transrectal ultrasound (TRUS) and guided systematic biopsy are used (Heidenreich et al., 2011;Tewari et al., 2014). The biopsy allows to determine the Gleason score, that measures the aggressiveness of the cancer, predicting prognosis and guiding treatment (Gleason and Mellinger, 1974). In fact, PSA is the mostly used biomarker to screen PCa (Ercole et al., 1987;Phillips, 2014). However, this test lacks some important features needed to a correct diagnosis, namely, sensitivity and specificity (Thompson et al., 2004;Eylert and Persad, 2012). This is a problem that may affect the successfully diagnosis and treatment with serious consequences. In last years, many studies aimed to found new biomarkers for PCa (Crawford et al., 2014).

Some therapeutic options are available to treat PCa. These include radical prostatectomy, brachytherapy, focal therapies (e.g. high intensity focused ultrasound, cryotherapy) and androgen deprivation treatment for local PCa (Eylert and Persad, 2012). In some cases of men with small tumors that have not spread beyond the gland it is recommend close monitoring but without applicate aggressive treatment, a strategy named "watchful waiting" (Eylert and Persad, 2012). In the case of metastasis, it may be used hormone therapy, chemotherapy or radiotherapy (Drudge-Coates and Turner, 2012). Nevertheless, these options are not always effective and investigation to better understand the molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in PCa, is still needed.

3. Hormonal Actions and Prostate Carcinogenesis

The hormonal factors, namely, steroid hormones have important roles on prostate development and physiology, but are also a predisposition factor to PCa development. According to this, several studies reported that administration of male sex hormones can induce PCa in animal models (Noble, 1977).

3.1. Androgens

Androgens are the most abundant sex steroids in men. They are responsible for the development of male organs and secondary sexual characteristics. The most well-known and rogens are testosterone and its 5α -reduced metabolite, the potent and rogen 5α dihydrotestosterone (DHT). Testosterone and DHT are considered potent androgens, since even in low dosages they stimulate androgen-dependent structures, like prostate. Testosterone is the most important androgen in men, being mainly produced by Leydig cells on the testis, but also adrenal glands secrete low quantities of this steroid. Other common androgens include the dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), its metabolite the dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) and androstenedione. These are weak androgens produced by the adrenal glands (Jones and Lopez, 2006).

Androgens exert their actions through binding to the intracellular AR, a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily that acts as a ligand dependent transcription factor (Mangelsdorf et al., 1995). This binding activates AR, allowing it to bind DNA and to recruit co-regulators for induction or repression of downstream gene transcription (Heinlein and Chang, 2002).

In the prostate, the biologically active androgen is the DHT that is produced by the local reduction of testosterone produced from the testis by the 5α -reductase enzyme. As other male organs, the prostate development and growth is regulated by androgens since the embryonic development to adulthood (Sensibar, 1995). Testosterone regulates the glandular morphogenesis in the developing prostate and the prostatic function and glandular maintenance in the adult prostate (Sensibar, 1995). Androgens are required for normal prostate development, acting directly on prostate epithelial cells to induce terminal differentiation, or acting at indirect way on prostate epithelium proliferation, through induction of secretory growth factors by the adjacent stroma (Isaacs and Coffey, 1989). In normal prostate, epithelial AR acts predominantly to produce the proteins secreted by the prostate and the stromal AR promotes growth (Lai et al., 2012).

Since androgens are so important in prostate development, hormonal changes may be related with prostate diseases, namely with PCa. Huggins and Hodges were the first to postulate that androgens promote prostate carcinogenesis (Huggins, 1967;Huggins and

Hodges, 1972). In fact, strong evidences reported a correlation between androgens and PCa, for example, African men are thought to have higher androgenic levels, leading to the higher incidence of PCa (Ross et al., 1998). Other evidences showed that estosterone and androstanediol glucuronide were statistically significant positively associated with PCa (Gann et al., 1996).

A comparative study of the effects of DHEA, testosterone and DHT in LNCaP cells revealed that all the androgens increased cell proliferation and PCa biomarkers, however, the DHEA showed delayed effects compared to the other two hormones (Arnold et al., 2005). Furthermore, animal studies also support this role: testosterone caused adenocarcinomas in the dorsolateral prostate of rats and a PCa incidence increase in different rat species (Bosland and Mahmoud, 2011).

The balance between proliferation and apoptosis is crucial to maintain the normal function of prostate. Androgens seem to act as regulators of the both processes through several mechanisms. One of the most common genetic alterations in PCa is the fusion between two genes, namely, the TMPRSS2 gene and the ETS transcription factor genes, ERG or ETV1. TMPRSS2 gene codifies a membrane-bound serine protease, which is regulated by androgens and overexpressed in PCa, and ETS transcription factor genes are involved in multiple processes, including cell proliferation and cancer cell invasion (Lin et al., 1999;Hsu et al., 2004;Tomlins et al., 2005). There are evidences that androgens may induce the translocation of TMPRSS2-ERG and TMPRSS2-ETV1 (Lin et al., 2009;Cai et al., 2010), suggesting a potential mechanism by which androgens regulate the expression of growth factors and their receptors, namely, insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), fibroblast growth factor (FGF8) and endothelial growth factor (EGF), that are involved in prostate carcinogenesis and cancer progression (Rudra-Ganguly et al., 1998;Torring et al., 2003;Wu et al., 2007).

Androgens also seem to crosstalk with the downstream effectors of growth factor signaling, such as phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/AKT (PI3K/AKT), that plays a critical role in prostate carcinogenesis and its progression (Vivanco and Sawyers, 2002). At cell cycle, androgens may increase cyclin expression and promote the assembly of active cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) complexes (Xu et al., 2006;Balk and Knudsen, 2008). Androgens also may increase the cell proliferation through induction of autophagy and intracellular lipid accumulation (Shi et al., 2013) and also through increase of ROS in PCa cells to a level that potentiates cell growth (Lin et al., 2010;Lu et al., 2010).

Relatively to apoptosis, an important role of the androgens in its prevention has been also reported (Raclaw et al., 2008). Androgen treatment of the LNCaP hormone-dependent human PCa cell line induces increased expression of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein (Berchem et al., 1995). The expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 gene was shown to be up-regulated by androgens and functioned as an apoptosis inhibitor to promote LNCaP cell growth (Lu et al., 1999). Moreover, androgens may suppress the TNFR family (TNF- α /Fas)-induced apoptosis through inhibition of p53 expression and caspase-2 activation (Rokhlin et al., 2005). Other studies also showed that androgen could block apoptosis induced by Fas activation and TNF- α and reduce the Bax expression (Kimura et al., 2001).

Nevertheless, despite the pro-proliferative and anti-apoptotic effects of androgens, studies that report the opposite effect have been emerging (Wen et al., 2014).

The AR signaling pathway has been implicated in early PCa growth, metastatic disease, development of hormonal resistance and disease relapse. In the majority of PCa cases, the AR is expressed through all stages of development (Debes and Tindall, 2002).

Since AR is a critical effector of PCa development and progression, androgen deprivation therapies (ADT) by ablation of AR function through ligand depletion and/or the use of AR antagonists are the first line of therapeutic intervention. This triggers the cell death or cell cycle arrest of PCa cells (Knudsen et al., 1998;Agus et al., 1999;Koksal et al., 2010). Although these strategies are initially effective, recurrent tumors may arise as a result of inappropriately restored AR function (Feldman and Feldman, 2001).

Many AR alterations are related with PCa progression to more advanced stages, namely, the androgen-independent PCa. Some of these mechanisms involve the response of AR even at low levels of androgens, namely due to mutations, overexpression/amplification, activation by growth factors and cytokines, altered expression co-activators, calpain proteolysis or even by the increased local production of androgen by prostate cells (Linja and Visakorpi, 2004;Devlin and Mudryj, 2009;Saraon et al., 2011).

Somatic mutations of AR are mostly gain-of-function, which can lead to androgen hypersensitivity or decreased ligand specificity, contributing to PCa development (Han et al., 2005). In fact, AR gene mutations are rare in patients with primary PCa but have been reported with a higher frequency in bone marrow specimens from patients with advanced disease (Taplin and Balk, 2004). AR amplification/overexpression sensitizes cells to low concentrations of the ligand (Waltering et al., 2009), and is a process mainly present in tumors that recur after ADT (Bubendorf et al., 1999;Ford et al., 2003). Constitutively active AR splice variants, generated by gene splicing or genomic rearrangement, were detected in PCa cell lines and tumor samples (Guo et al., 2009;Hu et al., 2009), and may be responsible for recurrent PCa through alternative transcriptional output (Hu et al., 2012a). Posttranslational modifications of AR command activity, structure, and stability, including phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, acetylation and methylation. Overall, the majority of these modifications results in AR activation and is related with progression of PCa (McCall et al., 2008). Other important question related with PCa progression is that, in some cases, the enzymes necessary for androgen synthesis are present and some of them elevated in PCa metastasis or recurrent tumors (Montgomery et al., 2008).

3.2. Estrogens

Estrogens are mainly known as "female sex hormones". However, they are also present in male serum at low levels and their physiological action has been deserved attention. There are different estrogens, including the natural and synthetic compounds. The natural estrogens include estrone (E_1), 17 β -estradiol (E_2) and estriol (E_3). The most well-known and potent is the E_2 (Krolik and Milnerowicz, 2012).

In men, the estrogens production results from the testosterone conversion by aromatase. This phenomenon occurs mainly in the Sertoli cells of the testis, but also in other tissues, including the prostate, which express many of the steroidogenic enzymes, involved in estrogen biosynthesis and metabolism (Takase et al., 2006). In that way, E_1 and E_2 may be produced locally within the prostate via aromatization of androstenedione and testosterone, respectively (Ellem and Risbridger, 2006). Thus, estrogens also seem to have an important role in normal development of prostate gland.

Despite the classical role of androgens as stimulating agents in PCa growth, currently, estrogens also have been implicated in the onset and progression of PCa. However, a duality for the possible role of estrogens in prostate cells has been gaining consistency over the last years. If some studies defend that estrogens are potential causative agents of PCa other strong evidences indicate that these steroids may be protective against PCa.

Estrogens have been associated with the uncontrolled growth and transformation observed in PCa (Carruba, 2007;Ho et al., 2011). In fact, the estrogens/androgens ratio increases with age in parallel with a decrease in testosterone levels. That coincides with an increasing prevalence of PCa in older men, suggesting, in fact, a role of estrogens in prostate carcinogenesis. This increased ratio seems to induce the development of inflammation upon aging and the onset of premalignant lesions (Vermeulen et al., 2002;Ellem and Risbridger, 2010).

An increased risk to develop PCa was found in patients with high E_2 levels (Salonia et al., 2011). Moreover, E_2 exposure seems to neoplastically transform the rat prostatic epithelial cells *in vitro* (Yu et al., 2011b). Other studies confirm that estrogens, alone or in combination with androgens are potent inducers of cell growth and differentiation in PCa (Ricke et al., 2007), and may induce squamous metaplasia of prostatic epithelium (Risbridger et al., 2001). Moreover, estrogens in combination to androgens showed to increase the PCa incidence in rodents in comparison to androgens alone (Bosland et al., 1995), and this

combination was thought to be necessary to PCa development (McPherson et al., 2001;Setlur et al., 2010), but now is known that even alone, estrogens may contribute to PCa development. Furthermore, estrogens also contribute to PCa progression and metastasis in nude mice (Ricke et al., 2006).

Also *in vitro* studies support these adverse effects of estrogens. Physiological concentrations of estrogens stimulate LNCaP cell proliferation and PSA expression (Castagnetta et al., 1995;Arnold et al., 2005). Accordingly, proliferation was also increased in normal prostate stromal cells (PrSC) and LNCaP cells treated with E_2 , and the ratio estrogens/andogens seems to influence this proliferation (King et al., 2006). E_2 treatment also showed effects in cell invasion by up-regulating the production of matrix metalloproteinase 2 in PrSC and WPMY-1 cells, which was mediated by the TGFB1 (Yu et al., 2011a) and induced stromal cell paracrine effects that promote PCa cell migration, through increasing stability of enolase 1, a critical enzyme for cellular energy metabolism, and promoting its secretion to the extracellular matrix (Yu et al., 2012).

Other mechanisms underlying the action of estrogens in carcinogenesis include the increase in the proliferation of epithelial cells; the up-regulation of growth factors-dependent signaling pathways that promote aberrant cell growth; the increase of prolactin-receptor signaling; the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activation; the increased cell-survival potential through the overexpression of anti-apoptotic mediators; the elevation in oxidative stress-induced DNA damage; changes in gene-expression profiles related to cell proliferation, DNA damage, activation of proto-oncogenes and transforming factors; the breakdown of epithelial basement membrane, stromal extracellular matrix, the stimulation of inflammation and overexpression of anti-apoptotic mediators (Pandini et al., 2007;Ho et al., 2011). Other important question related to the estrogens is that they can be chemicals carcinogens, because they can be converted to reactive estrogens intermediates and cause damage to DNA and lipids causing mutations that may be involved in PCa development (Bosland, 2012). Moreover, catechol estrogens showed the ability of induces proliferation and malignant transformation in prostate epithelial cells (Mosli et al., 2013).

The endocrine disruptors (EDs) are a great threat to reproductive physiology and have been linked with the carcinogenesis of reproductive tissues. The majority of the well-studied EDs are estrogen agonists, which mimic the estrogen activity of endogenous hormones. EDs include certain pesticide residues on food, chemicals used in plastics production and phytoestrogens in dietary plant products (Prins, 2008;Hu et al., 2012b). The exposure to some EDs seems to contribute to prostate carcinogenesis (Hardell et al., 2006;Mahajan et al., 2006). The sensitivity of the prostate to ED seems to be higher during the fetal and neonatal development as well as during puberty (Prins et al., 2007;Lobaccaro and Trousson, 2014). However, neither all the EDs have a predisposing role for development of PCa, for example,
some phytoestrogens have showed a potential anti-carcinogenic effect with interest in PCa (Stephens, 1997).

On the other hand, there are evidences of the protective role of estrogens in prostate physiology. In rodents, low doses of estrogens have been shown to enhance prostatic growth, but high doses are generally growth inhibitory (vom Saal et al., 1997). Moreover, pharmacologic levels of estrogens inhibited the prostatic development, resulting in impaired growth and decreased responsiveness to androgens in adulthood (Naslund and Coffey, 1986;Prins, 1992). Other evidences have suggested that estrogens directly inhibit growth of PCa when administered *in vitro* in the absence of circulating hormones (Robertson et al., 1996). E_2 showed to be able to suppress recurrent PCa growth and to delay mortality in multiple castration resistant xenograft models *in vivo* (Corey et al., 2002). Accordingly, E_2 caused inhibition of PCa growth in an animal model by mechanisms that are independent of androgen action (Corey et al., 2002). Other studies are in accordance with the antiproliferative role of estrogens, showing that E_2 inhibits growth of hormone-nonresponsive PC3 cells (Carruba et al., 1994;Kanagaraj et al., 2007). It is also the case of DU145 cells that showed decreased proliferation with the treatment with estrogens (Pravettoni et al., 2007).

Estrogenic actions are mediated by the classic intracellular receptor proteins (estrogen receptors alpha (ER α) and beta (ER β), which act as transcription factors regulating the expression of target genes (Gibson and Saunders, 2012). Alternatively, estrogens may elicit signaling events by interaction with the G-protein-coupled receptor-30 (GPR30/GPER) (Prossnitz et al., 2008), but the expression and functionality of this receptor in prostate remains less characterized. ER α and ER β are expressed in rodent and human prostate during development and into adulthood (Enmark et al., 1997;Prins et al., 1998). The classical ER, ER α , has been detected almost exclusively on the stroma and in subsets of basal cells, and ER β seems to be expressed in the luminal and basal epithelial cells, with lower or none expression in stromal cells (Leav et al., 2001).

The ability of estrogens to suppress tumor growth and proliferation of prostatic cells may include receptor dependent mechanisms through inhibition of ER β (Pravettoni et al., 2007), or receptor independent mechanisms such as induction of immune surveillance and metabolism of E₂ to cytotoxic estrogens such as 2-methoxyestradiol (Robertson et al., 1996;Qadan et al., 2001). Other reported mechanism was the inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases and increased levels of IGF binding proteins IGFBP-3 and IGFBP-4 associated with apoptosis, suggesting that estrogens may inhibit the proliferation of PCa cells by inducing apoptosis (Kanagaraj et al., 2007). The tumor suppressive role of E₂ may also be explained by the suppression of androgen levels by E₂ (Montgomery et al., 2010), due to its negative feedback at the hypothalamus/pituitary, and for this reason estrogens have been used as therapeutic options in PCa (Oh, 2002;Gomella, 2009). However, the application of estrogen based therapies is a theme with strong discussion associated (Oh, 2002).

More recently it was reported that the anti-tumor effects may involve an antiangiogenesis role of $E_{2,}$ explained by its ability to decrease the microvessel number in the tumor tissues (Wen et al., 2013).

Currently, it is accepted that the opposite roles of estrogens are related with differential responses driven by ER α and ER β (Risbridger et al., 2007;Ellem and Risbridger, 2009). Indeed, it has been shown that ER α and ER β have opposite roles in PCa development. A recent study reported that ER α stimulates the genesis and progression of adenocarcinoma in the rat ventral prostate, while ER β inhibits the onset of precancerous PIN lesions (Attia and Ederveen, 2012). Other evidences support the adverse effects of ER α and the protective role of ER β , in respect to inflammation, proliferation and other mechanisms leading to prostate carcinogenesis (Pravettoni et al., 2007;Ellem and Risbridger, 2010;McPherson et al., 2010;Piccolella et al., 2014).

As AR, ERs also may undergo modifications, like genetic polymorphisms that may be responsible for different responses in PCa development (Tanaka et al., 2003). Both ER α and ER β present splice variants. ER α displays, at least, five distinct mRNA isoforms, ER α -A-E (Ye et al., 2000). All these variants present deletions at the C-terminal ligand-binding domain, which is essential for receptor dimerization (Ye et al., 2000). These isoforms could be key regulatory elements or interact with other protein factors, regulating gene expression patterns and hormone sensitivity in normal and malignant prostate tissues (Ye et al., 2000). ER β also presents five different mRNA isoforms (ER β 1-5). In this case the isoforms result from truncation or insertion in the ligand-binding domain (Lewandowski et al., 2002). These modifications are responsible for different roles of each isoform, for example, ER β 1 and ER β 2 showed opposite roles in regulating proliferation and bone metastasis genes, while the first has tumor-suppressing effects, the second has oncogenic capabilities (Dey et al., 2012). Moreover, several polymorphisms of ER α and ER β were reported to be related with increased PCa risk (Tanaka et al., 2003;Thellenberg-Karlsson et al., 2006).

4. The Stem Cell Factor (SCF)/c-KIT System

The c-KIT and its ligand, the SCF, are expressed in a broad range of tissues, including brain, breast, testis, skin and prostate (Lammie et al., 1994)

The SCF/c-KIT system has been shown to play an important function in melanogenesis, hematopoiesis and gametogenesis (Nishikawa et al., 1991;Ratajczak et al., 1992;Sato et al., 2012) through the regulation of several biological processes, such as cell proliferation, differentiation, migration and apoptosis (Ronnstrand, 2004;Farini et al., 2007). The importance of SCF/c-KIT system in prostate also has been suggested (Leong et al., 2008).

Despite the expression and the important functions of SCF and c-KIT in normal tissues, they are also expressed in several types of cancer (Natali et al., 1992;Simak et al., 2000). Furthermore, they have been described as having important roles in cancer development and progression in many tissues, including lung, breast, pancreas and prostate (Krystal et al., 1996;Di Lorenzo et al., 2004;Ulivi et al., 2004;Wiesner et al., 2008;Zhang et al., 2011).

Moreover, given the close relationship of SCF/c-KIT system with cancer, the development of specific inhibitors interfering with c-KIT signal transduction pathways emerged as an exciting field in cancer treatment (Lennartsson and Ronnstrand, 2006;Ashman and Griffith, 2013).

4.1. The c-KIT Receptor: Molecular Biology and Signaling

The c-KIT receptor, also known as CD117, stem cell factor receptor or KIT receptor, was firstly described in 1986 as the transforming gene of the Hardy-Zuckerman 4 feline sarcoma virus, being identified as the proto-oncogene v-KIT (Yarden et al., 1987). The mouse c-KIT gene is located in the dominant white spotted locus (W) (Chabot et al., 1988;Geissler et al., 1988) while the human gene is located on chromosome 4q11-q12 with a total length of 90 kb (d'Auriol et al., 1988). The main product of this gene is a single 5 kb transcript (Yarden et al., 1987) encoding a transmembrane glycoprotein with approximately 145-160 kDa that belongs to the type III receptor tyrosine kinase family (Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990;Blume-Jensen and Hunter, 2001). This class of receptors shares a common structure encompassing three main functional regions (Fig. I-3): an intracellular kinase domain, a transmembrane region, and an extracellular ligand-binding domain (Lemmon and Ferguson, 2007). The cytoplasmic region of c-KIT, responsible for the signaling transduction, contains proximal and distal kinase domains, separated by an interkinase domain, and binding sites for ATP and magnesium ions (Mol et al., 2003;Roskoski, 2005). The transmembrane region is constituted for a short hydrophobic chain of amino acids, allowing the receptor to fix in the plasmatic membrane. The extracellular region is organized in five immunoglobulin-like domains and have the function of recognize the ligand, but it also participates in receptor dimerization (Yuzawa et al., 2007;Paulhe et al., 2009).

Mechanisms of alternative splicing and others have been identified to originate c-KIT protein variants. One example is the c-KIT isoforms that differ in the presence or absence of the tetrapeptide Gly-Asn-Asn-Lys (GNNK) sequence in the juxtamembrane region of the extracellular domain of the receptor (Caruana et al., 1999;Voytyuk et al., 2003). Both isoforms of c-KIT bind the ligand with identical affinity (Caruana et al., 1999), but the effect of stimulation is faster and more pronounced in GNNK-negative c-KIT (Montero et al., 2008). Recently, it was demonstrated that the GNNK in the extracellular juxtamembrane domain of c-KIT (Fig. I-3) plays a relevant role regulating receptor activation and signaling (Phung et al., 2013).

A mechanism of alternative promoter usage and RNA transcription from a cryptic exon produces a truncated form of c-KIT protein (tr-KIT) with approximately 30-50 kDa which do not have the extracellular domain and the transmembrane region, and is located at cytoplasm (Rossi et al., 1992;Toyota et al., 1994;Albanesi et al., 1996;Takaoka et al., 1997;Muciaccia et al., 2010). tr-KIT do not have the first part of the kinase domain, lacking the kinase activity (Rossi et al., 1992), but retains the capability to induce signaling transduction (Sette et al., 1998). In fact, this tr-KIT can interact with other tyrosine kinase receptors, or with other receptor types (Sette et al., 1998), as a scaffold protein regulating multiple signaling pathways. This isoform of c-KIT has been detected in germ cells and human cancer cells (Rossi et al., 1992;Toyota et al., 1994).

c-KIT also can be proteolytically cleaved and released from the cell membrane originating a soluble isoform (Broudy et al., 1994;Turner et al., 1995), which could be detected in human serum (Wypych et al., 1995). It has only the extracellular domain and binds the ligand with the same affinity as the full-length c-KIT, suggesting a role in controlling ligand bioavailability (Wypych et al., 1995;Dahlen et al., 2001). More recently, serum levels of soluble c-KIT have been associated with the hematopoietic disorders, mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells to peripheral blood, asthma severity, and clinical outcome of patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors (Kawakita et al., 1995;Nakamura et al., 2004;Deprimo et al., 2009;Makowska et al., 2009).



Figure I-3. Schematic representation of c-KIT structure. The five immunoglobin-like domains of the extracellular domain are involved in ligand-binding and receptor dimerization. The transmembrane domain anchors c-KIT in the cytoplasmic membrane. The intracellular region, responsible for signaling transduction, contains proximal and distal kinase domains separated by an interkinase region, and a carboxyl terminal tail. Some alternatively spliced forms of c-KIT are characterized by the presence of the tetrapeptide GNNK in the extracellular juxtamembrane domain. The receptor can be cleaved and released from cell membrane originating a soluble c-KIT (s-KIT) only constituted by the extracellular domain. A truncated form of c-KIT (tr-KIT) originated by mechanisms of alternative promoter usage and RNA transcription from a cryptic exon lacks the extracellular and transmembrane domains retaining part of the kinase domain (Cardoso et al., 2014).

c-KIT signaling mechanisms depend of SCF binding to c-KIT, which results in receptor dimerization and activation of intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity (Blume-Jensen et al., 1991;Philo et al., 1996). The interaction of SCF with c-KIT leads to dimerization of receptor, activation of its tyrosine kinase activity and initiation of downstream signal transduction pathways (Blume-Jensen et al., 1991). The pathways activated by c-KIT signaling include the PI3-K, the Src, the Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT), the phospholipase-C γ (PLC- γ) and the MAPK pathways.

Through the activation of the several signaling pathways, c-KIT is responsible for many effects at cellular level, including, control of cell proliferation differentiation, survival and apoptosis regulation (Ronnstrand, 2004). Therefore, it is highly understandable that deregulated actions of SCF/c-KIT system have been associated with carcinogenesis.

4.2. Molecular and Functional Aspects of SCF, the c-KIT Ligand

The SCF, also known as steel factor, c-KIT ligand or mast cell growth factor is a growth factor that binds to c-KIT, firstly identified in 1990 (Nocka et al., 1990; Williams et al.,

1990;Zsebo et al., 1990). It is codified on the *Steel locus* (*Sl*) of chromosomes 12 and 10, respectively, in humans and mouse (Zsebo et al., 1990;Geissler et al., 1991). The human, mouse and rat *SCF* genes consist of 9 exons (Martin et al., 1990) and encode a 45 kDa glycoprotein, which is located at the plasma membrane of different cell types (Gagari et al., 2006;Wiesner et al., 2008;Mansuroglu et al., 2009).

The SCF protein is constituted by three distinct regions (Fig. I-4): an intracellular domain (Langley et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2000), an hydrophobic transmembrane domain, and an extracellular domain responsible for recognizing and binding to c-KIT (Langley et al., 1994). Besides the full-length membrane bound form of SCF (mSCF), with approximately, 45 kDa, soluble forms of SCF also have been identified. The soluble SCF (sSCF) is generated by the specific proteolytic cleavage of an alternative spliced form of SCF. A primary cleavage site is encoded by an alternative exon 6 and produces a 165 amino acid soluble protein (31 kDa) still containing the domain that recognizes c-KIT (Flanagan et al., 1991;Pandiella et al., 1992; Majumdar et al., 1994). Thus, both mSCF and sSCF proteins bind and activate the c-KIT receptor. However, it was verified that mSCF induces persistent activation and longer life span of c-KIT, while sSCF leads to a transient activation and faster degradation (Miyazawa et al., 1995). Miyazawa et al. (1995) proposed that sSCF can down-regulate c-KIT expression by triggering its degradation. The ratio of the two isoforms varies in different tissues, suggesting a tissue specific regulation of the SCF expression (Huang et al., 1992). Moreover, differences exist in the downstream pathways activated by c-KIT upon ligation of soluble or membrane isoforms of SCF (Kapur et al., 2002).



Figure I-4. Schematic representation of SCF structure. The SCF display an extracellular domain, responsible for recognizing and binding to c-KIT, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain. The SCF exists as a membrane-bound homodimer (mSCF) or as a soluble protein (sSCF). The sSCF is originated by the proteolytic cleavage of an alternatively spliced variant of SCF that contains the alternative exon 6 (green) (Cardoso et al., 2014).

4.3. The Role of SCF/c-KIT System in Prostate and PCa

SCF is expressed in fibromuscular stroma cells (Lammie et al., 1994;Ceder et al., 2008) and in glandular and ductal epithelial cells, localized in the basal layer of nonmalignant prostate (Imura et al., 2012). c-KIT is expressed in basal epithelial cells of ducts and acini, stroma, interstitial and stem cells (Simak et al., 2000;Leong et al., 2008;Imura et al., 2012), and also detected in mast cells (Simak et al., 2000).

SCF/c-KIT system seems to have a preponderant role in PCa development. Expression of c-KIT and SCF was detected in PCa cases (Di Lorenzo et al., 2004;Wiesner et al., 2008). It was also shown that c-KIT was expressed in 5% of BPH cases, 14% of primary PCa, and 40% of bone metastasis (Wiesner et al., 2008). Moreover, it was found a significantly higher expression of SCF and c-KIT in BPH than in normal prostate (Imura et al., 2012), suggesting the involvement of the SCF/c-KIT system in the pathophysiology of prostate. It was observed that SCF increases the proliferation of PrSCs while administration of c-KIT inhibitors blocks SCF-induced proliferative activity (Imura et al., 2012). These SCF/c-KIT effects seem to be mediated by the JAK-STAT signaling pathway and might thus underpin the overgrowth of prostate (Imura et al., 2012).

Also, the expression of tr-KIT, the cytoplasmic variant of c-KIT, appears to be correlated with the more advanced stages of prostatic tumors. It was not expressed in cases of BPH but was expressed in 28% of patients with low Gleason grade tumors and in 66% with more advanced tumors (Paronetto et al., 2004). tr-Kit expression was restricted to the cytoplasm of the epithelial cells of neoplastic prostatic glands (Paronetto et al., 2004). Given the positive correlation between tr-Kit expression and tumor progression, the aberrant expression of nuclear factors able to bind to the human tr-Kit promoter may be an early event in prostate cell transformation (Paronetto et al., 2004).

c-KIT mRNA seems to be significantly increased during androgen deprivation in DuCaP cells compared to non-castrated clinical metastatic disease, although the protein was not detected in these cells (Pfeiffer et al., 2011). As c-KIT play an important role in cell proliferation, this may be one more mechanism involved in cancer reappearance after androgen deprivation (Simmons and Klein, 2009). Considering the apparent role of SCF/c-KIT system in the pathophysiology of prostate, it seems relevant to evaluate the effect of c-KIT inhibitors in the disease progression.

4.4. Hormonal Regulation of the SCF/c-KIT System

The c-KIT receptor and its ligand, SCF, seem to be regulated by hormonal factors, in particular by steroid hormones, and some studies reported this regulation in several tissues.

One evidence of this regulation is the significant correlation found between the expression of c-KIT and the concentrations of testosterone and androstenedione in the follicular fluid (Tanikawa et al., 1998). DHT treatment showed a great induction of SCF expression in the ovary tissue (Shiina et al., 2006). The stimulatory effect of DHT on the expression of SCF was further confirmed in human granulosa-like tumor cells in culture (Shiina et al., 2006). Moreover, testosterone (1 ng/ml) significantly increased the expression of splice variants of SCF in the mouse ovary (Kundu et al., 2012).

In men, it was reported that *in vitro* culture of rat seminiferous tubules with testosterone (10⁻⁶ M) did not change the mRNA expression of SCF (Yan et al., 1999). Also, no significant changes were found on the expression of SCF in rat Sertoli cells at different developmental ages after treatment with testosterone (10⁻⁷ M) for 24 h (Bhattacharya et al., 2012). An identical response was described in Sertoli cells of rhesus monkey (*Macaca mulatta*) using the same hormonal doses and time-frame (Majumdar et al., 2012). However, a strong evidence of the c-KIT hormonal regulation is the relationship between c-KIT expression, and the phase of reproductive cycle and the serum levels of androgens. In some seasonal species, the expression of c-KIT throughout reproductive cycle revealed a seasonal pattern linked with the plasma and testicular levels of testosterone. The maximum expression of c-KIT arose during the reproductive period when the testis exhibited the maximum concentration of testosterone (Roelants et al., 2002;Raucci and Di Fiore, 2007; 2009).

Other interesting question is that c-KIT showed to be significantly increased in recurrent PCa when compared to non-castrated clinical metastatic disease, suggesting that cancer initiating cells can proliferate, mediated by c-KIT, even in adaptation to a androgen deprived environment (Pfeiffer et al., 2011).

Relatively to estrogens, E_2 treatment increased the expression of sSCF by gonadal somatic cells, probably by interaction of ER α with an AP-1 response element in the *Steel* gene encoding the SCF protein (Moe-Behrens et al., 2003). Moreover, estrogens seem to increase the proliferation/survival of primordial germ cells, which was underpinned by the enhanced phosphorylation of c-KIT (La Sala et al., 2010). Accordingly, *in vitro* stimulation of primordial germ cells with E_2 lead to the phosphorylation of c-KIT and activation of downstream molecular targets (La Sala et al., 2010). Since ERs do not have intrinsic kinase activity, the E_2 induced phosphorylation occurs indirectly after receptor association with other proteins. The phosphorylation of c-KIT in primordial germ cells in response to E_2 is dependent on the activity of SRC tyrosine kinases likely through the action of an adaptor protein that mediates the interaction of ERs with SRC proteins (Wong et al., 2002;La Sala et al., 2010).

In the ovary, the first evidence of a relationship between the expression levels of SCF/c-KIT and E_2 appeared with the report of Tanikawa et al. (1998), which positively correlated the expression of c-KIT in human oocyte with the concentration of E_2 in follicular fluid (Tanikawa et al., 1998). Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches demonstrated that E_2 is able to regulate SCF expression in the ovary of new-born mice. The mRNA expression of SCF decreased in mouse ovaries cultured *in vitro* with 10⁻⁴ M of E_2 (Huansheng et al., 2011). Also, in the ovary of new-born mice injected with E_2 (5 mg/kg/day) a decreased expression of SCF mRNA was observed (Huansheng et al., 2011). However, treatment with a 10⁻⁸ M dose of E_2 for 4 days seems to induce an increase in the mRNA expression of SCF in mice ovary cultured *in vitro* (Huansheng et al., 2011), which indicates that estrogenic effects on the activity of SCF/c-KIT system may vary with the hormonal dose.

In cultured breast epithelial cells the treatment with E_2 also increased the c-KIT expression (Calaf and Roy, 2007).

Also, in the testis, estrogens seem to regulate c-KIT and SCF. Although, a previous study failed to report the estrogenic regulation of c-KIT and SCF in rat seminiferous tubules cultured *in vitro*, using a 10^{-8} M dose of E₂ (Yan et al., 1999), very recently it was showed that estrogens down-regulate the expression of c-KIT in seminiferous tubules while increased the expression of SCF (Correia et al., 2014). This was concomitant with diminished proliferation and enhanced apoptosis of germ cells (Correia et al., 2014).

Substances mimicking endogenous estrogens influenced the c-KIT expression. Male rats fed daily for 3 months with a standard diet supplemented with soya isoflavones (20 mg/kg/day) displayed a diminished expression of c-KIT in spermatogonia, spermatocytes and spermatids, with important alterations in the morphology of seminiferous tubules (Misiakiewicz et al., 2013). However, in cultured breast epithelial cells the treatment with parathion, an organophosphorous pesticide used in agriculture to control mosquito plagues, increased c-KIT expression alone or in combination with E_2 (Calaf and Roy, 2007).

In rat prostate there is only one study evaluating the expression of c-KIT in response to estrogens. Rats implanted with silastic capsules containing 20 mg of E_2 displayed higher expression of c-KIT than the sham-operated control group which was given an empty capsule (Kusljic and Exintaris, 2010). However, the augmented expression of c-KIT resulted from the increase in the population of interstitial cells expressing c-KIT and not from the increase of expression in cells (Kusljic and Exintaris, 2010). A resume of the hormonal regulation of SCF/c-KIT system in some reproductive tissues is systematized in Fig. I-5.



Figure I-5. Hormonal regulation of SCF/c-KIT system in the testis (A) and ovary (B) (adapted from Figueira et al. (2014)).

II. Objectives

It is widely established that the prostate gland is a hormone target organ, highly dependent on androgens actions, which are crucial for its normal function and development. Androgens are also well-known factors in the onset and progression of PCa. More recently, a substantial body of evidence has implicated estrogens in the carcinogenesis of prostate. However, a duality for the possible role of estrogens in prostate physiology has been gaining consistency over the last years. If some studies defend that estrogens are potential causative agents of PCa other strong evidences indicate that these steroids may be protective against PCa.

The SCF/c-KIT system plays a crucial role in the control of cell proliferation and apoptosis, and its expression was described both in normal and malignant prostate tissues. Moreover, SCF and c-KIT have been related with the development and progression of PCa.

The estrogenic regulation of SCF and c-KIT was described in several tissues, but the effect of estrogens controlling the expression of SCF/c-KIT in prostate is unknown.

The present dissertation aimed to evaluate the role of estrogens regulating the SCF/c-KIT system expression in prostate, by means of *in vivo* and *in vitro* experimental approaches. For this purpose, neoplastic and non-neoplastic prostate cell lines were cultured in presence or absence of E_2 , and 3-month-old male rats were daily injected with E_2 for 5 days. The *in vivo* effect of estrogens on the proliferation and apoptosis of prostatic cells also was investigated.

III. Material and Methods

1. Cells Lines and Animals

1.1. Neoplastic and Non-neoplastic Human Prostate Cell Lines

The human normal prostate epithelial cell line, PNT1A (*human post-pubertal prostate normal cell line*), and the human PCa cell lines LNCaP (*lymphe node carcinoma of the prostate*), DU145 and PC3 were acquired from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC, Salisbury, UK). LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cell lines are widely recognized models of metastatic stages of PCa representing different stages of aggressiveness. LNCaP cells were derived from lymph nodules metastasis and present low metastatic potential (Horoszewicz et al., 1980;Horoszewicz et al., 1983), DU145 cells were derived from brain metastasis and have moderate metastatic potential (Mickey et al., 1977;Stone et al., 1978), and PC3 cells were derived from bone metastasis and have high metastatic potential (Kaighn et al., 1979).

1.2. Animals

Thirty-two 3-month-old Wistar (*Rattus norvegicus*) male rats weighing 250-300 g were housed under constant temperature and humidity, in a 12 hours light-dark cycle, with food and water available *ad libitum*. Animals were handled in compliance with the National and European Union guidelines for handling and care of laboratory animals (Directive-2010/63/EU).

2. Human Prostate Cell Culture and In Vitro Hormonal

Treatment

Both neoplastic and non-neoplastic cell lines were maintained in RPMI 1640 phenol red culture medium (Gibco, Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland), supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Biochrom AG, Berlin, Germany) and 1 % penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland), at 37 °C in a humid atmosphere equilibrated with 5 % CO_2 .

After reached the required cell number, each cell line was seeded in 40 t-flasks at a density of 1×10^6 cells per t-flask in 5 mL of culture medium. Cells were also grown up in 12 well plates with glass culture slides at a density of 150×10^3 (PNT1A and PC3) or 100×10^3 (LNCaP and DU145) per well in 1 mL of cell culture medium for immunocitochemistry purposes. When cells reached 60 % of confluence, the medium was replace by phenol red-free RPMI 1640 medium containing 5 % charcoal-stripped FBS (CS-FBS) (Gibco, Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland), which is devoid, among other components, of steroid hormones. Cells were maintained in this culture medium for 24 h to return at steroid hormone basal levels. Then, for stimulation with E₂ (Sigma, Saint Louis, MO, USA), culture medium was replaced by CS-FBS

containing 0 nM (control group) or 100 nM (treated group) E_2 , and cells were exposed for 0, 12, 24, and 48 hours. The 100 nM dose of E_2 is considered a supraphysiological dose (Ropero et al., 2012).

At the end of hormonal treatment, cells were trypsinized and harvested for posterior analysis.

3. In vivo Hormonal Treatment

Rats were randomly divided into two distinct groups, each containing 16 animals, and daily injected with vehicle (control) or with E_2 (250 mg/day/Kg) for 5 days. The E_2 dose, as well as duration of treatment were chosen on the basis of our and others previous studies evaluating gene regulation by sex hormones (Harris et al., 2000;Gomes et al., 2013). After treatment, animals were euthanized by cardiac puncture, under anesthesia with 100 μ L of a mixture containing ketamine and xilazine (2:1) per 100 g of animal weight. Then, prostrates were removed, weighted and either fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) or snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until RNA or protein extraction. In each group of 16 animals, 8 whole prostates were used for protein/RNA extraction and 8 prostates were used for fixation in 4 % PFA.

4. RNA Extraction

Human prostate cells and rat prostate tissues were homogenized in the adequate volume of TRI reagent (5 Prime, Hilden, Deutschland) by pipetting up and down or using an Ultra-turax homogenizer (T25 basic, IKA), respectively. Samples were allowed to stand at room temperature for 5 minutes to ensure complete dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Then, 200 μ L of chloroform per mL of TRI were added for phase separation and samples were mixed for 15 seconds and allowed to stand at room temperature for 10 minutes. A centrifugation step at 14000 rpm, 4 °C for 15 minutes separated the mixture into 3 phases: a red organic phase (containing proteins), an interphase (containing DNA) and a colorless upper aqueous phase (containing total RNA), which was collected to fresh tubes. After that, 500 μ L of 2-propanol per mL of TRI were added to precipitated RNA and the samples were mixed and allowed to stand at room temperature for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was rejected and the RNA pellet was washed with 500 μ L of 75 % cold-EtOH by centrifugation at 9500 rpm for 5 minutes at 4 °C twice. The RNA pellet was air-dried for 5 minutes and ressuspended in 10 μ L of Diethylpyrocarbonate treated-water (DEPC-H₂O).

The quantity of total RNA, was estimated by measurement of optical density at 260 and 280 nm (NanoPhotometer, Implen). The integrity of RNA was evaluated by 1 % agarose gel

electrophoresis with 2 μ L of Greensafe Premium per 100 mL gel, and also by amplification of the 18S cDNA (see below). In both cases, agarose gels were visualized using the Molecular Imager FX Pro Plus MultiImager software (Biorad, Hercules, USA) coupled to an image acquisition system (Vilber Lourmat, Marne-la-Vallée, France).

5. cDNA Synthesis

cDNA was synthetized using 1 μ g of total RNA and the NZY First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (NZYtech, Lisbon, Portugal) in a reaction mixture containing: 10 μ L of NZYRT 2x Master Mix, 2 μ L of NZYRT Enzyme Mix and the suitable volume of RNA (for 1 μ g) and DEPC-treated H₂O up to a final volume of 20 μ L. Total RNA was reverse-transcribed by incubating samples at 25 °C for 10 minutes, followed by 50 °C for 30 minutes. The reaction was inactivated by heating at 85 °C for 5 minutes and chilling on ice. 1 μ L of NZY RNase H (*E. Coli*) was added to each sample of reverse-transcribed RNA and the reaction was incubated at 37 °C for additional 20 minutes. At the end, the reaction was stopped by heating at 85 °C for 5 minutes. The synthesized cDNA was stored at -20 °C until use.

6. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Polymerase chain reaction was used to confirm the mRNA expression of SCF and c-KIT in prostate cell lines and rat prostate. Also, PCR was applied to amplify the 18S cDNA as a strategy to infer about the quality of the synthesized cDNA. Specific primers for the amplification of the target and housekeeping transcripts were designed using the Primer3 v0.4.0 (Rozen and Skaletsky, 2000) or the Beacon Designer 7 (Premier Biosof International, Palo alto, California, USA) software. Primers characteristics and cycling conditions are indicated in Table III-1. Amplification reactions for each target gene were performed using DreamTaq[™] Green PCR Master Mix (2X) Kit (Fermentas, Life Sciences, EU) in a mixture containing: 6.25 µL of Master Mix 2X, 0.1 µL of specific primers, 1 µL of cDNA, and nucleasefree water up to a final volume of 12.5 µL. In each PCR a no-template control was included. Reactions were carried out on a thermocycler (Biometra, TProfessional Basic gradient), under the following conditions: initial denaturation at 95 °C for 3 minutes, and 35 or 40 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 30 seconds, annealing at 58°C or 60°C for 30 seconds and extension at 72 °C during 10 seconds; reactions ended with 5 minutes incubation at 72 °C. PCR products were run on 1-2 % agarose gels containing 2-3 µL of Greensafe Premium per 100 mL gel. Agarose gels were visualized using the Molecular Imager FX Pro Plus MultiImager software (Biorad, Hercules, USA) coupled to an image acquisition system (Vilber Lourmat, Marne-la-Vallée, France). The size of the amplificated fragments was compared to a DNA ladder (NZYDNA Ladder VI, Nzytech).

7. Real-time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR)

Expression analysis of SCF and c-KIT mRNA in prostate cell lines and rat prostate in different experimental conditions was performed by qPCR. Details on primers sequences and cycling conditions for the amplification of the target and housekeeping transcripts are provided on Table III-1. Gene expression was normalized with internal controls: GAPDH and beta-2-microglobulin in the case of prostate cell lines and β -actin in the case of animal prostate tissues. Reactions were performed in an iQ5 system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), and the efficiency of the amplifications was determined for all primer sets using serial dilutions of cDNA (1, 1:3, and 1:9). The primer concentration and annealing temperature were optimized before the assay, and the specificity of the amplicons was determined by melting curve analysis.

Each reaction consisted of a mixture of 10 μ L of iTaqTM Universal SYBR[®] Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), 0.8 or 1.2 μ L of sense and anti-sense primers (depending of the primer specific gene) and sterile water up to 19 μ L. Then, 1 μ L of cDNA was added in a final volume of 20 μ L. All reactions were performed in duplicate and a notemplate control was included in each qPCR. Reactions were carried out on a thermocycler (iCycler iQ5TM system, Biorad), under the following conditions: initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes, and 35 or 40 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 10 seconds, annealing at 58 °C or 60 °C for 30 seconds and extension at 72 °C during 10 seconds. The melting curve was constructed by heating reactions from 55 °C to 95 °C with 10 seconds hold at each temperature. Normalized expression values were determined using the mathematical model proposed by Pfaffl (2^{-($\Delta\Delta$ Ct)}) (Pfaffl, 2001).

Gene	Primer Sequence (5' - 3')	Amplicon Size (bp)	AT (°C)	Cycles
Human c-KIT	sense: CCG TCT CCA CCA TCC ATC antisense: ATT CAT TCT GCT TAT TCT CATT CG	144	58	40
Human SCF	Sense: GTT GCC GATT AGT GAT ATG G Antisense: ACT TCT TCC TGC GAT GAC	174	60	35
Human GAPDH	Sense: CGC CAG CCG AGC CAC ATC Antisense: CGC CCA ATA CGA CCA AAT CCG	75	60	35
Human beta-2 microglobulin	Sense: ATG AGT ATG CCT GCC GTG TG Antisense: CCA ACC TCC ATG ATG CTG CTT AC	93	60	35
Rat c-KIT	<u>Sense:</u> CCG TCT CCA CCA TCC ATC C <u>Antisense:</u> TTC GCT CTG CTT ATT CTC AAT CC	143	60	35
Rat SCF	Sense: ATGGCTTGGGAAATGTCTG Antisense: GCTGATGCTACGGAGTTAC	193	58	35
Rat β-Actin	<u>Sense:</u> TGG TGG GTA TGG GTC AG <u>Antisense:</u> CAA TGC CGT GTT CAA TGG	79	60	35

Table III-1. Oligonucleotides sequence, amplicon size and cycling conditions.

AT- annealing temperature

8. Total Protein Extraction

Human prostate cells and rat prostate tissues were homogenized in the adequate volume of radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet-P40 substitute, 0.5% Na-deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 50 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Protease cocktail and 10% PMSF) by pippeting up and down or using an Ultra-turax homogenizer (T25 basic, IKA), respectively. The samples were allowed to stand on ice (20 minutes for cells or 1 hour for

prostate tissues) and occasionally mixed. Samples were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C, and total proteins (supernatant) were recovered to fresh tubes. Quantification of total protein concentration in cell and tissue extracts was assessed using the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) with Bio-rad protein assay dye reagent concentrate (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

9. Western Blot (WB)

Total proteins of human prostate cells (50 μ g) and rat prostate (75 μ g) were heatdenatured at 100 °C and resolved on 12.5 % sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Then, proteins were electrotransferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) at 750 mA for 90 to 150 minutes. Membranes were blocked for 1 hour with a 5 % skimmed dried milk and then incubated overnight at 4 °C with rabbit anti-SCF (1:500, H-189: sc-9132; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-c-KIT (1:500, C-19: sc-168; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-FasR (1:500, A-20:sc-1023; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-Fas-L (1:500, C-178: sc-6237; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-Bax (1:500, # 2772; Cell Signaling Technology), rabbit anti-Bcl-2 (1:1000, # 2876; Cell Signaling Technology) or rabbit anti-caspase-9 p35 (H-170:sc-8355; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) primary antibodies. A mouse anti- α -tubulin monoclonal antibody (1:5000, T9026, Sigma - Aldrich) was used for protein loading control in all WB analyses. Goat antirabbit IgG-AP (1:5000, NIF1317; GE Healthcare) or goat anti-mouse IgG+IgM-AP (1:5000, NIF1316, GE Healthcare) were used as secondary antibodies. Membranes were exposed to ECF substrate (GE Healthcare) for 5 minutes and scanned with Molecular Imager FX Pro plus MultiImager (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Band densities were obtained according to standard methods using the Quantity One Software (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and normalized by division with the respective α -tubulin band density.

10. Fluorescent Immunocitochemistry

PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells cultured in presence or absence of E_2 were washed with phenol red-free RPMI 1640 medium and fixed with 4 % PFA. Cells were then permeabilized with 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma, Saint Louis, MO, USA) for 5 minutes at room temperature, and unspecific staining was blocked by incubation with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) containing 0.1 % (w/v) Tween®-20 (PBS-T) and 20 % FBS (Biochrom AG, Berlin, Germany) for 1 hour. After washing with PBS-T cells were incubated with rabbit anti-SCF (1:50, H-189: sc-9132; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or rabbit anti-c-KIT (1:50, C-19: sc-168; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) primary antibodies diluted in PBS-T containing 1 % FBS, for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were washed again and incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG or Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibodies (Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland) diluted 1:1000 in PBS-T containing 1 % FBS for 1 hour at room temperature.

Additional washes were performed before cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 (5 μ g/mL, Invitrogen) for 10 minutes. Sections were washed with PBST and mounted in Dako fluorescent mounting medium. Specificity of the staining was assessed by the omission of primary antibody. Images were acquired using an Invert Zeiss axiobserver microscope (Carl Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany).

11. Fluorescent Immunohistochemistry

Formalin-fixed paraffin sections (5 µm) of rat prostate were deparaffinized in xylene (2x5 minutes), rehydrated in ethanol/water graded solutions (2x3 minutes in 100 % ethanol, 3 minutes in 95 % ethanol and 3 minutes in 70 % ethanol), and briefly passed by tap water for 30 seconds. After heat-induced antigen retrieval (citrate buffer bath, 10 mM, pH 6.0) sections were allowed to cool at room temperature and incubated with the cell membrane marker wheat germ agglutinin (5 µg/ml, Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland) for 10 minutes. After permeabilization with 1 % Triton X-100 (Sigma, Saint Louis, MO, USA) for 15 minutes at room temperature, unspecific staining was blocked by incubation with PBS containing 1 % (w/v) BSA (PBA) and 0.3 M glycine (Fisher Scientific) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Incubation with rabbit anti-SCF (1:50, H-189: sc-9132; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or rabbit anti-c-KIT (1:50, C-19: sc-168; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) primary antibodies diluted in PBA occurred overnight at 4 °C, followed by incubation with Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG or Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibodies (Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland) diluted 1:500 in PBA for 1 hour at room temperature. Sections were washed with PBS and mounted in Dako fluorescent mounting medium. Specificity of the staining was assessed by the omission of primary antibody. Dual labeling images of SCF or c-KIT and cell membrane in prostate sections were acquired using a Zeiss LSM 710 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany).

12. Proliferation Index

The proliferation index in the prostates of E_2 -treated and un-treated rats was estimated by the fluorescent immunohistochemistry of nuclear proliferation marker Ki67. Formalin-fixed paraffin sections (5 µm) of rat prostate were deparaffinized, rehydrated, antigen retrieved, permeabilized and blocked as described in section 11.

After washing steps, sections were incubated overnight at 4 °C with rabbit anti-Ki67 (ab16667; Abcam) primary antibody diluted 1:50 in PBA. Then, sections were incubated with Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland) diluted 1:500 in PBA for 1 hour at room temperature and washed. Cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 (10 μ g/mL, Invitrogen) for 5 minutes. Sections were washed with PBS and mounted in Dako fluorescent mounting medium. Specificity of the staining was assessed by

the omission of primary antibody. Images were acquired using a Zeiss LSM 710 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany).

The proliferation index was determined by the percentage of Ki67-positive cells out of the total number of Hoechst stained nuclei in 20 randomly selected 40 magnification fields in each section.

13. Caspase-3 Activity Assay

To determine the enzymatic activity of caspase-3, 25 μ g of total protein extracted from rat prostate were incubated with the appropriated volume of reaction buffer (25 mM HEPES, 0.1% 3-[(3-holamidopropyl) dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate, 10% sucrose, and 10 mM Dithiothreitol (DTT), pH 7.5) and 200 μ M of caspase-3 substrate (Ac-DEVD-pNA) in a 96well pate. A negative control without Ac-DEVD-pNA was performed for each sample. Reactions were allowed to proceed at 37 °C and upon caspase cleavage of Ac-DEVD-pNA, pnitro-aniline (pNA) is released producing a yellow color, which is measured spectrophotometrically at 405 nm. The amount of generated product was calculated by extrapolation from a standard curve of free pNA and is directly proportional to the activity of caspase-3.

14. Terminal Deoxynucleotidyl Transferase dUTP Nick-End Labeling (TUNEL)

Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick-end labeling was performed using the In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit, TMR red (Roche, Penzberg, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. Rat prostate sections (5 µm) were deparaffinized as described before and permeabilized with 0.25% Triton X-100 (Sigma, Saint Louis, MO, USA), for 30 minutes at room temperature. Afterwards, sections were incubated in a humidified atmosphere with TUNEL reaction mixture (enzyme solution equilibrated in label solution) for 1 hour at 37°C, protected from light. After additional washes with PBS, cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 (10 mg/mL; Invitrogen) for 5 minutes. Sections were then washed with PBS for 10 minutes and mounted in Dako fluorescent mounting medium. Images were acquired using an Invert Zeiss axiobserver microscope (Carl Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany).

15. Statistical Analysis

Statistical significance of differences between controls and hormonal treatments in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments was evaluated by unpaired T-test with Welch's correction, using GraphPad Prism v5.00 (GraphPad Software, San Diego,CA). Significant differences were considered when p<0.05. All experimental data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

IV. Results

1. Characterization of the SCF/c-KIT System Expression in Human Prostate Cell Lines and Rat Prostate

The SCF/c-KIT system has been identified in some PCa cell lines (Stoop et al., 2008) and several tissues (Morii et al., 1992;Chui et al., 1996). However, in the case of the prostate, some of the previous studies are contradictory and unclear (Savarese et al., 1998;Wiesner et al., 2008). Before start evaluating the hormonal regulation of the SCF/c-KIT system in neoplastic and non-neoplastic prostate cell lines, as well as in rat prostate, the expression of c-KIT receptor and its ligand in prostate cells and tissues was confirmed.

1.1. SCF and c-KIT are Expressed in Both Neoplastic and Non-neoplastic Prostate Cell Lines

To evaluate the expression of c-KIT mRNA in human prostate cell lines it was performed a PCR and the amplificated products were visualized in an agarose gel. An amplicon of the expected size 144 bp long was found in both neoplastic and non-neoplastic human prostate cell lines as shown in Fig. IV-1A.

A qPCR was performed to determine the relative expression of c-KIT mRNA in human prostate cells (Fig. IV-1B). The highest expression of c-KIT was observed in DU145 cells (2.08 \pm 0.24 fold variation, P<0.01) while PC3 displayed the lowest levels (0.45 \pm 0.14 fold variation, P<0.05). No significant differences were found between c-KIT expression in LNCaP and PNT1A cells (Fig.IV-1B).



Figure IV-1. c-KIT mRNA expression in non-neoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCap, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines. (A) PCR products run on 2% agarose gel; M, molecular weight marker; NC, negative control. (B) Relative expression of c-KIT determined by qPCR, after normalization with GAPDH and beta-2 microglobulin as internal reference genes. Results are expressed as the fold variation relatively to PNT1A. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05 and **P<0.01 compared with PNT1A cell line. #P<0.05 compared to LNCaP. ###P<0.0001 compared with DU145.

The expression of c-KIT proteins in neoplastic and non-neoplastic human prostate cell lines was confirmed by WB analysis. The full-length c-KIT, the membrane form of the receptor, with 145 kDa, as well as its variants, namely, the truncated isoform of c-KIT, with approximately, 30 kDa and a 50 kDa isoform were detected in all cell lines (Fig. IV-2A). No significant differences were found on the expression of c-KIT in different cell lines. However, the full-length c-KIT and the isoform with 50 kDa seem to be more expressed by DU145 cell. On the other hand, the tr-KIT (30 kDa) shows an higher expression in PC3 cells (Fig. IV-2B).



Figure IV-2. Expression of full-length (145 kDa), and 50 and 30 kDa isoforms of c-KIT in nonneoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCap, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines. (A) Representative WB experiments. (B) c-KIT protein expression in prostate cells determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -tubulin. Results are expressed as fold-variation relatively to PNT1A cells. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 3).

The expression of SCF mRNA in prostate cell lines was also analyzed by PCR. The amplificated products were visualized in an agarose gel and it was confirmed the presence of an amplicon of the expected size 174 bp long in all cell lines as shown in Fig. IV-3A.

A relative-quantification of the SCF mRNA expression was performed by qPCR. The highest expression of SCF was observed in DU145 cells, although without statistical significance; PC3 cells showed the lowest expression levels of SCF mRNA, which is significantly decreased in comparison with the other cell lines (e.g. 0.44 ± 0.13 fold variation to PNT1A, P<0.01, Fig. IV-3B). No significant differences were found between SCF expression in LNCaP, DU145 and PNT1A cells (Fig.IV-3B).



Figure IV-3. SCF mRNA expression in non-neoplastic (PNT1A) and neoplastic (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3) human prostate cell lines. (A) PCR products run in 2% agarose gel; M, molecular weight marker; NC, negative control. (B) Relative expression of SCF determined by qPCR after normalization with GAPDH and beta-2 microglobulin as internal reference genes. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to PNT1A. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). **P<0.01 compared with PNT1A cell line. #P<0.05 compared to LNCaP. +P<0.05 compared with DU145.

At protein level, a SCF specific band, with an approximate size of 63 kDa, was detected in both neoplastic and non-neoplastic prostate cells, with only slight variations between cell lines (Fig. IV-4A). Although without statistically significant difference, the expression of SCF seems to be higher in DU145 cells and lower in PC3 (Fig. IV-4B).





1.2. The SCF/c-KIT System is Expressed in Rat Prostate

c-KIT expression in rat prostate was confirmed both at mRNA and protein level. The run of PCR products in agarose gel revealed an amplicon of, approximately, 144 bp (Fig. IV-5 A). In respect to protein, it was detected different isoforms of c-KIT by WB, namely, the full-length c-KIT, the membrane form of the receptor, with 145 kDa; the truncated isoform of c-KIT, with approximately, 30 kDa and other isoform with a band size of 50 kDa (Fig.IV-5B). The two last ones seem to be weakly expressed.



Figure IV-5. c-KIT mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression in rat prostate. (A) PCR products were run in 2% agarose gel; M, molecular weight marker; NC, negative control. **(B)** Protein samples were run in 12.5 % acrylamide gel and detected by WB analysis. The full-length c-KIT (145 kDa), and the 50 and 30 kDa isoforms are indicated.

PCR and WB analysis confirmed the expression of SCF in rat prostate. At mRNA level, an amplicon of, approximately, 174 bp long was identified (Fig. IV-6A). At protein level, although SCF can exist in different forms, only a unique specific band was detected in WB analysis. It was a strong SCF specific band, presenting a molecular weight of, approximately, 63 kDa (Fig. IV-6B).



Figure IV-6. SCF mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression in rat prostate. (A) PCR products were run in 2% agarose gel; M, molecular weight marker; NC, negative control. **(B)** Protein samples were run in 12,5% acrylamide gel and detected by WB analysis.

2. Estrogens Regulate the Expression of SCF/c-KIT System in Neoplastic and Non-neoplastic Prostate Cell Lines

The SCF/c-KIT system has been showed to be regulated by estrogens in some cell lines. Considering this, and after confirmed the expression of both c-KIT and SCF in all the prostate cell lines selected to study, it was evaluated the effect of estrogens on the expression of SCF/c-KIT system. PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells were exposed to 100 nM of E_2 for 0, 12, 24 and 48 h. Expression of SCF and c-KIT was studied at mRNA and protein level respectively, by qPCR and WB and compared with the untreated control group (0 nM E_2).

c-KIT mRNA expression was evaluated in neoplastic and non-neoplastic prostate cells exposed to 0 nM or 100 nM E_2 for 0 h and 24 h. As expect, no significant differences were observed for c-KIT expression in all cell lines for 0 h of E_2 -stimulation. On the other hand, at 24 h of E_2 -stimulation, a significant increase of the c-KIT expression was detected in PNT1A, DU145 and PC3 cells (respectively, 1.86 ± 0.31, 2.11 ± 0.34 and 3.19 ± 0.93 fold variation, P<0.05, Fig. IV-7A, C and D). In fact, the most accentuated increase was verified in PC3 cells (Fig. IV-7D). Contrarily, in LNCaP cells, c-KIT mRNA expression decreased with E_2 exposure (0.53 ± 0.14 fold variation, P<0.05, Fig. IV-7B).



Figure IV-7. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on c-KIT mRNA expression in human prostate cell lines. The mRNA expression was determined by qPCR after normalization with GAPDH and beta-2 microglobulin housekeeping genes. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to the control group (0 nM E_2 , dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05.

Considering the estrogenic effect on c-KIT proteins it was shown that treatment with 100 nM E_2 for 24 h down-regulated the expression of all c-KIT protein isoforms in PNT1A, (although without statistical significance) and DU145 cells (0.87 ± 0.01 fold variation to control (P<0.05) for the full-length; 0.94 ± 0.01 fold variation to control (P<0.05) for the 50 kDa and 0.92 ± 0.02 fold variation to control (P<0.05) for the 30 kDa) (Fig. IV-8A, B and C). Curiously, for the same time of stimulation, an opposite effect was observed in PC3 cells, which showed increased expression of the full-length and truncated form of c-KIT (1.37 ± 0.16 and 1.32 ± 0.08 fold variation to control, P<0.05, respectively, Fig. IV-8D). This opposite effect was also observed in PNT1A at 12 h of E_2 -stimulation, but without significance. No changes were verified in the expression of full-length c-KIT in LNCaP cells, but the truncated 50 kDa and 30 kDa proteins were also decreased (0.85 ± 0.02 and 0.83 ± 0.02 fold variation to control, p<0.01, respectively). No expression changes were visible for 0, 12 or 48 h of stimulation.



Figure IV-8. Effect of E₂ (100 nM) on c-KIT protein expression (full-length 145 kDa, and 50 and 30 kDa isoforms) in human prostate cell lines. The protein expression was determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -Tubulin. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to control group (0 nM E₂, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n ≥ 5). *P<0.05, *P<0.01.

In order to further confirm these results, the effect of E_2 on c-KIT protein expression was also evaluated by fluorescent immunocytochemistry in PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells stimulated with E_2 for 24 h comparatively with the respective control groups. Representative microscopy images are shown in Fig. IV-9.





Figure IV-9. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on c-KIT protein expression in prostate cell lines. Representative fluorescence microscopy images obtained in Invert Zeiss axiobserver microscope are showed. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst 33342 (blue) and fluorescence c-KIT-positive staining is green. Negative controls for c-KIT obtained by omission of the primary antibody are provided as insert panels (-). Images were amplified 63x.

The mRNA expression of c-KIT ligand, SCF, was evaluated by qPCR in cells exposed to 0 nM or 100 nM for 0 h and 24 h. As expected, no variation was verified at 0 h of stimulation for all cell lines. 24 h after E_2 administration a significant increase of SCF expression was observed in all cell lines. However, PC3 cells showed the most pronounced increase, with 2.75 \pm 0.49 fold variation relatively to control (P<0.05, Fig. 6D), and almost the double of the effect seen in LNCaP cells (1.49 \pm 0.13 fold variation, P<0.05, Fig. 6 B). Thus, PNT1A and DU145 showed a moderate increase of SCF mRNA expression in response to E_2 (respectively, 2.18 \pm 0.32 and 1.67 \pm 0.10 fold variation, P<0.05, Fig. 6A and C).



Figure IV-10. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on SCF mRNA expression in prostate cell lines. The mRNA expression was determined by qPCR after normalization with GAPDH and bate-2 microglobulin housekeeping genes. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to control group (0 nM E_2 , dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05.

The SCF protein expression showed a response to E_2 stimulation similar to c-KIT. At 24 h after stimulation, it was down-regulated in PNT1A (0.82 ± 0.07 fold variation to control, P<0.05), LNCaP (0.85 ± 0.05 fold variation to control, P<0.05) and DU145 cells (0.69 ± 0.09 fold variation to control, P<0.05) (Fig. IV-9 A, B and C), but it was almost two-fold up-regulated in PC3 cells (1.98 ± 0.06 fold variation to control, P<0.001, Fig. IV-9 A). No changes were verified for 0, 12 or 48 h of stimulation.



Figure IV-11. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on SCF protein expression in prostate cell lines. The protein expression was determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -Tubulin. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to control (0 nM E_2 , dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05, *P<0.01.

The protein expression results of SCF were further confirmed by fluorescent immunocytochemistry in PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells stimulated with E_2 for 24 h, comparatively with the respective control groups. Representative microscopy images are shown in Fig. IV-12.




Figure IV-12. Effect of E_2 (100 nM) on SCF protein expression in prostate cell lines. Representative fluorescence microscopy images obtained in Invert Zeiss axiobserver microscope are showed. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst 33342 (blue) and fluorescence SCF-positive staining is red. Negative controls for SCF obtained by omission of the primary antibody are provided as insert panels (-). Images were amplified 63x.

3. Estrogenic Regulation of SCF/c-KIT System Expression in Rat Prostate

SCF and c-KIT have been identified as estrogen-target genes in a broad range of tissues. However, in prostate, nothing is known about the regulation of this system by E_2 . To evaluate the effect of E_2 on the expression of SCF and c-KIT in rat prostate, adult animals were daily injected with vehicle (control) or with E_2 (250 µg/day/Kg) for 5 days. The mRNA and protein expression of SCF and c-KIT was analyzed by qPCR and WB, respectively.

3.1. E₂ Down-Regulates the Expression of SCF and c-KIT in vivo

In vivo, E_2 treatment caused a significant increase in the mRNA expression of c-KIT (2.53 \pm 0.28 fold variation to control, P<0.001, Fig. IV-13A).

However, at protein level, distinct effects were observed for different c-KIT isoforms. E_2 treatment significantly up-regulated the expression of 50 kDa (1.17 ± 0.02 fold variation to control) and 30 kDa isoforms (1.64 ± 0.09 fold variation to control) (P<0.001, Fig. IV-13B and C). However, an opposite effect was verified relatively to the full-length c-KIT. WB analysis revealed that the membrane form of c-KIT was down-regulated by E_2 (0.89 ± 0.04 fold variation to control, P<0.05, Fig. IV-13B and C). In order to confirm these results a dual-labeling fluorescent immunohistochemistry was performed. Together with the c-KIT immunodetection, cell membrane was labeled with a cell-marker to distinguish the full-length from the truncated cytoplasmic c-KIT (Fig. IV-13D).



Figure IV-13. Effect of E_2 on the mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression of c-KIT in rat prostate tissue. (A) The mRNA expression was determined by qPCR after normalization with β -actin housekeeping gene. (B) Protein expression was determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -tubulin. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to control (0 nM E_2 , dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05; ***P<0.001. (C) Representative immunoblots and (D) confocal microscopy images showing the co-localization of c-KIT with cell membrane in control and E_2 -treated groups are provided. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst 33342 (blue), c-KIT-positive staining is green and cell membrane was stained with WGA (red). Negative controls for c-KIT obtained by omission of the primary antibody are provided as insert panels (-).

Considering SCF, its mRNA was up-regulated in E_2 -treated group (3.70 \pm 0.54 fold variation to control, P<0.001, Fig. IV-14A).

Contrarily, SCF protein was down-regulated by E_2 treatment (0.78 ± 0.01 fold variation to control, P<0.05, Fig. IV-14B and C). Although SCF can exist in different forms, only a unique specific band was detected in WB analysis (Fig. IV-14). Nevertheless, both membrane and soluble forms of SCF were detected in dual labeling fluorescent immunohistochemistry. The immunohistochemistry also revealed that SCF was decreased in the treated group comparatively to the control (Fig. IV-14 D).



Figure IV-14. Effect of E_2 on the mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression of SCF in rat prostate tissue. (A) The mRNA expression was determined by qPCR after normalization with β -actin housekeeping gene. (B) Protein expression was determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -tubulin. Results are expressed as the fold variation relative to control (0 nM E_2 , dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05; ***P<0.001. (C) Representative immunoblots and (D) confocal microscopy images showing the co-localization of SCF with cell membrane in control and E_2 -treated groups are provided. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst 33342 (blue), SCF-positive staining is green and cell membrane was stained with WGA (red). Negative controls for SCF obtained by omission of the primary antibody are provided as insert panels (-).

3.2. Diminished Expression of c-KIT in Response to E_2 is Concomitant with Decreased Prostate Weight, Diminished Proliferation and Increased Apoptosis

SCF/c-KIT system activity is strongly related with the promotion of cell proliferation and control of apotosis, and the diminished expression of c-KIT receptor in rat prostate in response to E_2 suggests that proliferation/apoptosis may be affected. Thus, it was compared prostate weight, proliferation index and apoptosis between controls and E_2 -treated rats.

 E_2 -treatment significantly decreased prostate weight in almost an half in comparison with the control group (Fig. IV-15B). On the other hand, no changes were verified in animal weight (Fig. IV-15A).



Figure IV-15. Effect of E_2 treatment on animal weight (A) and prostate weight (B). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). ***P<0.001.

Ki67 is considered a marker of proliferation, since it is found in the nucleus of proliferating cells in all active phases of the cell division cycle but is absent in nonproliferating cells (Gerdes et al., 1984). Ki67 immunofluorescence was used to determine the cell proliferation index in the prostate of E_2 treated animals. The cell proliferation index, determined by the number of Ki67-positive cells relative to the total cell number, was reduced by approximately half in rats treated with E_2 comparatively to control group (0.50 ± 0.10 fold variation to control, P<0.05, Fig. IV-16).



Figure IV-16. Proliferation in the prostate of control and E₂-treated animals. (A) Proliferation index determined by Ki67 immunofluorescence analysis. Percentage of Ki67-positive cells relative to the total cell number. Results are expressed as the fold variation compared with control. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05. (B) Representative confocal microscopy images showing the Ki67 labelling in control and E2-treated groups. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst 33342 (blue) and Ki67 positive staining is red.

Additionally to the proliferation analysis, it was evaluated the effect of E_2 treatment on apoptosis of rat prostate cells. Independently of the apoptotic pathway, the cascade of cell-death always leads to the activation of caspase-3 (Lawen, 2003). Thus, caspase-3 activity is widely used as a measurement of apoptosis. A huge increase in the activity of caspase-3 was observed in E_2 -treated group relatively to control (5.18 ± 0.44 fold variation, P<0.001, Fig. IV-17A). The prostate of animals injected with E_2 also revealed increased DNA fragmentation in comparison with non-treated ones as indicated by TUNEL assay (Fig. IV-17B).



Figure IV-17. Apoptosis in the prostate of control and E₂-treated animals. (A) Caspase-3 activity. Results are expressed as the fold variation compared with control. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). ***P<0.001. (B) Representative fluorescence microscopy images showing the TUNEL labeling in control and E2-treated groups.

Apoptosis may occur by two distinct but connected pathways: the intrinsic and the extrinsic pathway. There are evidences that estrogens increase apoptosis of different cell types through activation of extrinsic pathway (Zhao et al., 2011;Correia et al., 2014). In order to evaluate the apoptotic pathway activated by E_2 in rat prostate, the expression of some proteins related with apoptosis was assessed by WB analysis.

The Bax and Bcl-2 proteins are, respectively, proapoptotic and antiapoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family of apoptosis regulators (Lawen, 2003) and are mainly involved in the activation of intrinsic pathway of apoptosis (Harris and Thompson, 2000). The Bax/Bcl-2 protein ratio is considered a powerful marker of cell apoptosis (Mackey et al., 1998;Harris and Thompson, 2000). Bax/Bcl-2 protein ratio was decreased in E₂-treated group when compared with the control group (0.72 \pm 0.04 fold variation, P<0.001, Fig. IV-18A). This reduction seems to be due to an increase in Bcl-2 expression in treated rats (1.46 \pm 0.07 fold variation to control, P<0.001, Fig. IV-18B), since no changes were verified on Bax expression.

Caspase-9, which is involved in the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis, did not showed altered expression between treated animals and the control group (Fig. IV-18B).

The death factors Fas (receptor) and Fas-L (ligand) trigger the activation of the extrinsic pathway (Wajant, 2002). Both receptor and ligand were up-regulated in the prostate of E_2 -treated animals comparatively with the control group (respectively, 1.26 ± 0.06 (P<0.01) and 1.28 ± 0.11 fold variation, (P<0.05), Fig. IV-18C).



Figure IV-18. Expression of apoptosis regulators in the prostate of control and E_2 -treated animals. (A) Bax/Bcl- ratio. (B) Apoptosis regulators of the intrinsic pathway. (C) Death factors involved in the extrinsinc pathway. Results are expressed as the fold variation compared with control. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n \geq 5). *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (D) Representative immunoblots.

V. Discussion

PCa is the most frequent type of oncological disease in men, with an increasing incidence in last years. The onset of a tumor includes several changes in cell behavior, as a result of alterations in the molecular events underlying cell cycle progression, proliferation, differentiation, development, motility, and apoptosis. The SCF/c-KIT system has been reported as an important regulator of a variety of cell biological processes involved in tumor onset, development and invasion (Liang et al., 2013). In addition, some studies have showed that SCF/c-KIT system is expressed in several human cancers, including PCa, and that it plays a role in the control of cell proliferation and invasion (Natali et al., 1992;Simak et al., 2000). Nevertheless, the expression of this system in prostate is poorly known, particularly in the case of rodents. To date, only one study has described the expression of c-KIT in rat prostate, which was regularly observed in the space between the smooth muscle layer and the glandular layer of the prostatic duct system (Kusljic and Exintaris, 2010).

In the present dissertation, the expression of SCF and c-KIT was confirmed in rat prostate, both at mRNA and protein level. Moreover, it was also confirmed the expression of SCF/c-KIT system in neoplastic (PNT1A) and non-neoplastic prostate cell lines (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3). Different isoforms of c-KIT were found both in prostate in vivo and in in vitro cell cultures, which included the full-length and the tr-KIT, a cytoplasmic variant devoid of extracellular and transmembrane domains (Rossi et al., 1992; Takaoka et al., 1997). By means of distinct experimental approaches, and at least for our knowledge, this is the first report definitely characterizing, the expression pattern of SCF/c-KIT system in all PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells. Previous studies only have described the SCF and c-KIT expression in some of these neoplastic cells and the obtained results were discordant (Savarese et al., 1998; Wiesner et al., 2008). It is also a novelty of this dissertation, the identification of the cytoplasmic tr-KIT in these cell lines models of PCa, which is in accordance with a previous report describing the expression of this truncated variant in cases of PCa (Paronetto et al., 2004). Furthermore, it was also found an isoform of c-KIT with 50 kDa, which may be generated by a covalent interaction of the 30 kDa tr-KIT protein with some other proteins present in prostate cells, as was suggested in other studies (Muciaccia et al., 2010). The differences in the detection of c-KIT among existing studies may be explained by the use of different antibodies recognizing distinct epitopes of the protein. Herein, it was used an antibody that recognizes the C-terminus of c-KIT, so it can detect both full-length and tr-KIT. Other studies have used antibodies against the extracellular domain of c-KIT, detecting only the membrane isoform, which explains the failure in detecting the tr-KIT. Regarding SCF, only one isoform with 63 kDa was detected in WB analysis, which is a molecular weight higher than that of the described isoforms (45 kDa for mSCF and 31 kDa for sSCF). This may be related with the association of SCF with other proteins, due to inefficient denaturation of protein complexes, or simply, due to the WB technique variability.

The expression pattern of SCF and c-KIT in PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells, was also firstly described in the present study. Although without statistically significance due to the reduced number of samples, it was suggested that these cell lines present a differential expression of SCF and c-KIT variants. DU145 cells seem to display the highest expression for both SCF and c-KIT, with the exception of tr-KIT, which seems to increase with the aggressiveness stage from LNCaP to DU145 and then to PC3. This is further supported by the relationship that was previous found between the expression of tr-KIT and more advanced stages of PCa: tr-KIT is absent in BPH but is expressed in 28% of patients with low Gleason grade tumors and in 66% of those with more advanced tumors (Paronetto et al., 2004). Nevertheless, the mechanisms that regulate the expression levels of c-KIT and SCF in prostate cells remain to be identified.

Development and progression of PCa is highly dependent on the hormonal action, with androgens classically playing a role on these processes. In the last years, estrogens also have been implicated in the carcinogenesis of prostate (Carruba, 2007; Ho et al., 2011). However, other experimental evidences have been indicating that these steroids may be protective against PCa (Corey et al., 2002; Pravettoni et al., 2007). On the other hand, it has been established that the SCF/c-KIT system is hormonally regulated and a target of estrogens in several tissues except prostate (Figueira et al., 2014). Therefore, the main objective of this dissertation was to evaluate the effect of E_2 on the expression of SCF/c-KIT system in PCa cell lines and in rat prostate in vivo. It was verified that E_2 was capable of modulate the levels of SCF and c-KIT in prostate cell lines both at mRNA and protein level. A down-regulated expression of SCF and c-KIT protein was observed in all prostate cell lines, except PC3 cells, which displayed an up-regulated expression of SCF in response to E_2 . Noteworthy, the estrogenic effects were highly time-specific with changes in the SCF/c-KIT expression observed only for 24 h of stimulation, while at 0, 12 or 48 h of stimulation no expression changes were visible. Since the estrogens act through the activation of distinct ERs, and SCF/c-KIT system is related with proliferation and apoptosis control, events regulated by ERs, it is likely that the differences in the regulation SCF/c-KIT system across the different cell lines may be explained by a different expression pattern of ERs. Previous studies have described that PNT1A, LNCaP and DU145 cells express $ER\beta$ but not $ER\alpha$, while PC3 cells express both classical ERs (Lau et al., 2000; Pravettoni et al., 2007; Mak et al., 2013). However, $ER\beta$ seems to be lost with the progression of PCa to more advanced stages (Horvath et al., 2001) and, since PC3 cells represent the most aggressive stage, it is possible that they express lower levels of ER β than the other cell lines. Moreover, it has been accepted that ER α is associated with pro-tumorigenic effects while the ER β have an anti-tumorigenic role (Attia and Ederveen, 2012). In addition, the two isoforms of ER β , ER β 1 and ER β 2, were reported in PC3 cells, with one of them contributing to adverse effects of E_2 (Dey et al., 2012). Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the up-regulated expression of SCF/c-KIT system in response to E_2 in PC3 cells is an effect mediated by ER α , while in PNT1A, LNCaP and DU145 cells, which only

express the ER β , the expression of c-KIT and SCF is inhibited. The biological responses to estrogens are also mediated by the G-protein estrogen receptor (GPRE), and it has been indicated that it is involved in inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis (Chan et al., 2010;Chimento et al., 2013), which raises the question whether GPER may play a role in the regulation of SCF and c-KIT.

It is also remarkable that the down-regulated expression of c-KIT in prostate cells occurred for all the variants detected, namely, the 145 kDa full-length c-KIT, the 50 kDa and the 30 kDa (tr-KIT). The exception were the LNCaP cells, which did not showed altered expression of the full-length of c-KIT in response to E_2 . Interestingly, very recent studies reported that LNCaP cells express the ER α (Lee et al., 2014), as well as, the ER β 1 and ER β 2 isoforms (Hurtado et al., 2008). Furthermore, these cells express a mutated AR, which binds estrogens acting as pro-tumorigenic agent (Veldscholte et al., 1990;Elo et al., 1995). Altogether, these features of LNCaP cells may underlie the opposite effect of E_2 regulating the expression of the full-length c-KIT. However, it does not explain the decreased expression of the truncated isoforms.

It cannot be excluded from the discussion the fact that E₂-treatment increased the mRNA expression of SCF and c-KIT, which do not follow the results obtained at protein level. Indeed, the increase in mRNA with non-correspondent increase in protein is widely described, and can be explained since innumerable factors are associated with the great complexity of gene expression regulatory mechanisms, namely, mRNA retention in the nucleus, stability and half-life time of mRNA molecule, control of protein translation efficiency, post-translational modifications, and protein degradation (Mata et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the results of fluorescent immunocytochemistry further confirmed the WB analysis and were concordant for both SCF and c-KIT.

The results on the estrogenic regulation of SCF/c-KIT system in rat prostate *in vivo*, generally, reproduced those obtained in human prostate cell lines, with E_2 -treatment down-regulating the protein expression of SCF and full-length c-KIT. Relatively to SCF, only one isoform was detected, and the results of fluorescent immunohistochemistry supported the observed diminished expression in response to E_2 . Although the expression of the full-length c-KIT was down-regulated by E_2 , in the case of 30 and 50 kDa truncated variants their expression was up-regulated in E_2 -treated animals. This differentially effect did not occurred in cell lines, and may be explained by the complexity of the *in vivo* systems, which include an intricacy of regulatory processes that there are absent in simple cell systems *in vitro*. It also indicated that the estrogenic regulation of SCF/c-KIT system in rat prostate involve complex mechanisms dependent or independent of ER α and ER β actions (Prins et al., 1998), or even can cross with the activity of endogenous hormones like androgens.

Dual labeling fluorescent immunohistochemistry using cytoplasmic membrane staining allowed localizing the membrane forms of SCF and c-KIT. Although WB analysis with anti-SCF antibody detected only one immune-reactive protein, results of fluorescent immunohistochemistry confirmed the location of SCF both at cell membrane and cytoplasm of rat prostate cells. This discrepancy may be due to the high sensitivity of fluorescent labeling comparatively with detection method in WB technique.

Considering that the activity of SCF/c-KIT system is strongly related with the promotion of cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis, the diminished expression of c-KIT receptor and SCF in rat prostate in response to E_2 suggests that proliferation/apoptosis may be affected. The Ki67 is a recognized marker of cell proliferation, since it is found in the nucleus of proliferating cells in all active phases of the cell division cycle but is absent in non-proliferating cells (Gerdes et al., 1984). The cell proliferation index, estimated thorough Ki67 fluorescence immunohistochemistry, was significantly reduced in the prostate of E_2 -treated rats. The pronounced reduction observed in the prostate weight of E_2 -treated animals comparatively with the control group, further confirms the anti-proliferative action of E_2 in rat prostate cells. Previous studies in rodents, reported that low doses of estrogens enhanced prostatic growth, while high doses are generally growth inhibitory (vom Saal et al., 1997). In this dissertation, a dose of 250 µg/day/Kg of E_2 was administrated to adult rats, which is a within a supraphysiological range, thus a high dose. Indeed, similar results were obtained with doses of 200 or 300 µg/Kg (vom Saal et al., 1997). However, in this previous study, the exposure to E_2 was during fetal life, while in the present work adult animals were used.

The effect of E_2 stimulation on the apoptosis of rat prostate cells also was investigated. The apoptotic cell death may be triggered by distinct pathways, the receptormediated (or extrinsic) and the mitochondrial (or intrinsic) pathway (Elmore, 2007). Independently of the apoptotic pathway activated, the cascade of cell-death always leads to the activation of caspase-3 (Lawen, 2003). Thus, caspase-3 activity is widely used as a measurement of apoptosis. A huge increase in the activity of caspase-3 was observed in prostates of E_2 -treated group relatively to control. Also, a TUNEL assay demonstrated increased DNA fragmentation in the prostates of animals exposed to E_2 . These results indicate that E_2 treatment increases apoptosis in rat prostate cells, which also has been reported in other tissues of reproductive tract (Correia et al., 2014).

Previous studies also have shown that estrogens trigger apoptosis through the activation of extrinsic pathway (Zhao et al., 2011;Correia et al., 2014). In order to evaluate which was the apoptotic pathway involved in the estrogenic regulation, the expression of several apoptosis related proteins was determined by WB analysis.

The Bax and Bcl-2 proteins, respectively, proapoptotic and antiapoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family of apoptosis regulators (Lawen, 2003) are mainly involved in the activation of

intrinsic pathway of apoptosis, although they can also be regulated in the extrinsic pathway (Harris and Thompson, 2000). The Bax/Bcl-2 protein ratio, considered a powerful marker of cell commitment to apoptosis (Mackey et al., 1998;Harris and Thompson, 2000) was decreased in the rat prostate under E_2 stimulation. This reduction was caused by the increased expression of Bcl-2 expression in treated rats, since no changes were verified on Bax expression. In addition, caspase-9, an initiator caspase involved in the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis, did not showed altered expression with E_2 treatment.

On the other hand, the activation of the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis is triggered by death factors at cell membrane, like the complex Fas (receptor) and Fas-L (ligand) (Wajant, 2002). Both Fas and Fas-L proteins were up-regulated in the prostate of E_2 -treated animals comparatively with the control group, which indicates that E_2 stimulates apoptosis in rat prostate cells through enhanced activity of the extrinsic pathway.

VI. Conclusion

The present dissertation showed that E_2 regulates the expression of SCF/c-KIT system in neoplastic and non-neoplastic human prostate cells, as well as, in rat prostate *in vivo*.

 E_2 down-regulated the expression of SCF and c-KIT in PNT1A, LNCaP and DU145 cells, but an opposite effect was observed in PC3 cells, which may be consequence of a differential expression pattern of ERs.

The SCF/c-KIT system is also down-regulated by E_2 in rat prostate, which was accompanied by decreased cell proliferation and increased apoptosis. Moreover, it was indicated that E_2 triggers apoptosis of prostate cells through the activation of extrinsic pathway of apoptosis.

In conclusion, the present findings demonstrated the anti-proliferative and apoptosisinducer effects of estrogens, which may depend on the down-regulation of the SCF/c-KIT system. Furthermore, the results obtained support the protective role of estrogens against PCa. In the future, disclosing the molecular mechanisms underlying the estrogenic effects in prostate will be crucial to identify possible targets for treatment of PCa.

VII. References

- Acharya A, Das I, Chandhok D, and Saha T. 2010. Redox regulation in cancer: a double-edged sword with therapeutic potential. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 3: 23-34.
- Agus DB, Cordon-Cardo C, Fox W, Drobnjak M, Koff A, Golde DW, and Scher HI. 1999. Prostate cancer cell cycle regulators: response to androgen withdrawal and development of androgen independence. J Natl Cancer Inst. 91: 1869-1876.
- Albanesi C, Geremia R, Giorgio M, Dolci S, Sette C, and Rossi P. 1996. A cell- and developmental stagespecific promoter drives the expression of a truncated c-kit protein during mouse spermatid elongation. Development. 122: 1291-1302.
- Alberti C. 2008. Genetic and microenvironmental implications in prostate cancer progression and metastasis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 12: 167-175.
- Arnold JT, Le H, Mcfann KK, and Blackman MR. 2005. Comparative effects of DHEA vs. testosterone, dihydrotestosterone, and estradiol on proliferation and gene expression in human LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 288: E573-584.
- Ashman LK, and Griffith R. 2013. Therapeutic targeting of c-KIT in cancer. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 22: 103-115.
- Atala A. 2014. Re: Prostatic Inflammation Enhances Basal-to-Luminal Differentiation and Accelerates Initiation of Prostate Cancer with a Basal Cell Origin. J Urol. 192: 997-999.
- Attia DM, and Ederveen AG. 2012. Opposing roles of ERalpha and ERbeta in the genesis and progression of adenocarcinoma in the rat ventral prostate. Prostate. 72: 1013-1022.
- Aumuller G, and Seitz J. 1990. Protein secretion and secretory processes in male accessory sex glands. Int Rev Cytol. 121: 127-231.
- Balk SP, and Knudsen KE. 2008. AR, the cell cycle, and prostate cancer. Nucl Recept Signal. 6: e001.
- Berchem GJ, Bosseler M, Sugars LY, Voeller HJ, Zeitlin S, and Gelmann EP. 1995. Androgens induce resistance to bcl-2-mediated apoptosis in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 55: 735-738.
- Berry SJ, Coffey DS, Walsh PC, and Ewing LL. 1984. The development of human benign prostatic hyperplasia with age. J Urol. 132: 474-479.
- Blume-Jensen P, Claesson-Welsh L, Siegbahn A, Zsebo KM, Westermark B, and Heldin CH. 1991. Activation of the human c-kit product by ligand-induced dimerization mediates circular actin reorganization and chemotaxis. Embo j. 10: 4121-4128.
- Blume-Jensen P, and Hunter T. 2001. Oncogenic kinase signalling. Nature. 411: 355-365.
- Bosland MC. 2012. A perspective on the role of estrogen in hormone-induced prostate carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett.
- Bosland MC, Ford H, and Horton L. 1995. Induction at high incidence of ductal prostate adenocarcinomas in NBL/Cr and Sprague-Dawley Hsd:SD rats treated with a combination of testosterone and estradiol-17 beta or diethylstilbestrol. Carcinogenesis. 16: 1311-1317.
- Bosland MC, and Mahmoud AM. 2011. Hormones and prostate carcinogenesis: Androgens and estrogens. J Carcinog. 10: 33.
- Bradford MM. 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem. 72: 248-254.
- Brasky TM, Darke AK, Song X, Tangen CM, Goodman PJ, Thompson IM, Meyskens FL, Jr., Goodman GE, Minasian LM, Parnes HL, Klein EA, and Kristal AR. 2013. Plasma phospholipid fatty acids and prostate cancer risk in the SELECT trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 105: 1132-1141.
- Broudy VC, Kovach NL, Bennett LG, Lin N, Jacobsen FW, and Kidd PG. 1994. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells display high-affinity c-kit receptors and produce a soluble form of the c-kit receptor. Blood. 83: 2145-2152.
- Bubendorf L, Kononen J, Koivisto P, Schraml P, Moch H, Gasser TC, Willi N, Mihatsch MJ, Sauter G, and Kallioniemi OP. 1999. Survey of gene amplifications during prostate cancer progression by highthroughout fluorescence in situ hybridization on tissue microarrays. Cancer Res. 59: 803-806.
- Burks DA, and Littleton RH. 1992. The epidemiology of prostate cancer in black men. Henry Ford Hosp Med J. 40: 89-92.
- Cai J, Kandagatla P, Singareddy R, Kropinski A, Sheng S, Cher ML, and Chinni SR. 2010. Androgens Induce Functional CXCR4 through ERG Factor Expression in TMPRSS2-ERG Fusion-Positive Prostate Cancer Cells. Transl Oncol. 3: 195-203.
- Calaf GM, and Roy D. 2007. Gene and protein expressions induced by 17beta-estradiol and parathion in cultured breast epithelial cells. Mol Med. 13: 255-265.
- Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, and Thun MJ. 2003. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. N Engl J Med. 348: 1625-1638.
- Cardoso H, Figueira M, Correia S, Vaz C, and Socorro S. 2014. The SCF/c-KIT system in the male: survival strategies in fertility and cancer. Molecular Reproduction and Development (in press). DOI: 10.1002/mrd.22430.
- Carruba G. 2007. Estrogen and prostate cancer: an eclipsed truth in an androgen-dominated scenario. J Cell Biochem. 102: 899-911.
- Carruba G, Pfeffer U, Fecarotta E, Coviello DA, D'amato E, Lo Castro M, Vidali G, and Castagnetta L. 1994. Estradiol inhibits growth of hormone-nonresponsive PC3 human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 54: 1190-1193.

- Caruana G, Cambareri AC, and Ashman LK. 1999. Isoforms of c-KIT differ in activation of signalling pathways and transformation of NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Oncogene. 18: 5573-5581.
- Castagnetta LA, Miceli MD, Sorci CM, Pfeffer U, Farruggio R, Oliveri G, Calabro M, and Carruba G. 1995. Growth of LNCaP human prostate cancer cells is stimulated by estradiol via its own receptor. Endocrinology. 136: 2309-2319.
- Ceder JA, Jansson L, Ehrnstrom RA, Ronnstrand L, and Abrahamsson PA. 2008. The characterization of epithelial and stromal subsets of candidate stem/progenitor cells in the human adult prostate. Eur Urol. 53: 524-531.
- Chabot B, Stephenson DA, Chapman VM, Besmer P, and Bernstein A. 1988. The proto-oncogene c-kit encoding a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor maps to the mouse W locus. Nature. 335: 88-89.
- Chan QK, Lam HM, Ng CF, Lee AY, Chan ES, Ng HK, Ho SM, and Lau KM. 2010. Activation of GPR30 inhibits the growth of prostate cancer cells through sustained activation of Erk1/2, c-jun/c-fos-dependent upregulation of p21, and induction of G(2) cell-cycle arrest. Cell Death Differ. 17: 1511-1523.
- Cheng I, Levin AM, Tai YC, Plummer S, Chen GK, Neslund-Dudas C, Casey G, Rybicki BA, and Witte JS. 2012. Copy number alterations in prostate tumors and disease aggressiveness. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 51: 66-76.
- Chimento A, Casaburi I, Bartucci M, Patrizii M, Dattilo R, Avena P, Ando S, Pezzi V, and Sirianni R. 2013. Selective GPER activation decreases proliferation and activates apoptosis in tumor Leydig cells. Cell Death Dis. 4: e747.
- Chui X, Egami H, Yamashita J, Kurizaki T, Ohmachi H, Yamamoto S, and Ogawa M. 1996. Immunohistochemical expression of the c-kit proto-oncogene product in human malignant and non-malignant breast tissues. Br J Cancer. 73: 1233-1236.
- Clarke NW, Hart CA, and Brown MD. 2009. Molecular mechanisms of metastasis in prostate cancer. Asian J Androl. 11: 57-67.
- Corey E, Quinn JE, Emond MJ, Buhler KR, Brown LG, and Vessella RL. 2002. Inhibition of androgenindependent growth of prostate cancer xenografts by 17beta-estradiol. Clin Cancer Res. 8: 1003-1007.
- Correia S, Alves MR, Cavaco JE, Oliveira PF, and Socorro S. 2014. Estrogenic regulation of testicular expression of stem cell factor and c-kit: implications in germ cell survival and male fertility. Fertil Steril.
- Coussens LM, and Werb Z. 2002. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. 420: 860-867.
- Crawford ED, Ventii K, and Shore ND. 2014. New biomarkers in prostate cancer. Oncology (Williston Park). 28: 135-142.
- D'auriol L, Mattei MG, Andre C, and Galibert F. 1988. Localization of the human c-kit protooncogene on the q11-q12 region of chromosome 4. Hum Genet. 78: 374-376.
- Dahlen DD, Lin NL, Liu YC, and Broudy VC. 2001. Soluble Kit receptor blocks stem cell factor bioactivity in vitro. Leuk Res. 25: 413-421.
- De Marzo AM, Marchi VL, Epstein JI, and Nelson WG. 1999. Proliferative inflammatory atrophy of the prostate: implications for prostatic carcinogenesis. Am J Pathol. 155: 1985-1992.
- De Marzo AM, Platz EA, Sutcliffe S, Xu J, Gronberg H, Drake CG, Nakai Y, Isaacs WB, and Nelson WG. 2007. Inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 7: 256-269.
- Debes JD, and Tindall DJ. 2002. The role of androgens and the androgen receptor in prostate cancer. Cancer Lett. 187: 1-7.
- Demarzo AM, Nelson WG, Isaacs WB, and Epstein JI. 2003. Pathological and molecular aspects of prostate cancer. Lancet. 361: 955-964.
- Deprimo SE, Huang X, Blackstein ME, Garrett CR, Harmon CS, Schoffski P, Shah MH, Verweij J, Baum CM, and Demetri GD. 2009. Circulating levels of soluble KIT serve as a biomarker for clinical outcome in gastrointestinal stromal tumor patients receiving sunitinib following imatinib failure. Clin Cancer Res. 15: 5869-5877.
- Devlin HL, and Mudryj M. 2009. Progression of prostate cancer: multiple pathways to androgen independence. Cancer Lett. 274: 177-186.
- Dey P, Jonsson P, Hartman J, Williams C, Strom A, and Gustafsson JA. 2012. Estrogen receptors beta1 and beta2 have opposing roles in regulating proliferation and bone metastasis genes in the prostate cancer cell line PC3. Mol Endocrinol. 26: 1991-2003.
- Di Lorenzo G, Autorino R, D'armiento FP, Mignogna C, De Laurentiis M, De Sio M, D'armiento M, Damiano R, Vecchio G, and De Placido S. 2004. Expression of proto-oncogene c-kit in high risk prostate cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 30: 987-992.
- Drudge-Coates L, and Turner B. 2012. Prostate cancer overview. Part 2: metastatic prostate cancer. Br J Nurs. 21: S23-24, s26-28.
- Ellem SJ, and Risbridger GP. 2006. Aromatase and prostate cancer. Minerva Endocrinol. 31: 1-12.
- Ellem SJ, and Risbridger GP. 2009. The dual, opposing roles of estrogen in the prostate. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1155: 174-186.
- Ellem SJ, and Risbridger GP. 2010. Aromatase and regulating the estrogen: androgen ratio in the prostate gland. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 118: 246-251.

Elmore S. 2007. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol. 35: 495-516.

- Elo JP, Kvist L, Leinonen K, Isomaa V, Henttu P, Lukkarinen O, and Vihko P. 1995. Mutated human androgen receptor gene detected in a prostatic cancer patient is also activated by estradiol. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 80: 3494-3500.
- Enmark E, Pelto-Huikko M, Grandien K, Lagercrantz S, Lagercrantz J, Fried G, Nordenskjold M, and Gustafsson JA. 1997. Human estrogen receptor beta-gene structure, chromosomal localization, and expression pattern. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 82: 4258-4265.
- Ercole CJ, Lange PH, Mathisen M, Chiou RK, Reddy PK, and Vessella RL. 1987. Prostatic specific antigen and prostatic acid phosphatase in the monitoring and staging of patients with prostatic cancer. J Urol. 138: 1181-1184.
- Eylert MF, and Persad R. 2012. Management of prostate cancer. Br J Hosp Med (Lond). 73: 95-99.
- Farini D, La Sala G, Tedesco M, and De Felici M. 2007. Chemoattractant action and molecular signaling pathways of Kit ligand on mouse primordial germ cells. Dev Biol. 306: 572-583.
- Feldman BJ, and Feldman D. 2001. The development of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 1: 34-45.
- Ferlay J, Steliarova-Foucher E, Lortet-Tieulent J, Rosso S, Coebergh JW, Comber H, Forman D, and Bray F. 2013. Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: estimates for 40 countries in 2012. Eur J Cancer. 49: 1374-1403.
- Figueira M, Cardoso H, Correia S, Maia C, and Socorro S. 2014. Hormonal regulation of c-KIT receptor and its ligand: implications for human infertility? Prog Histochem Cyto (in press). DOI: 10.1016/j.proghi.2014.09.001.
- Flanagan JG, Chan DC, and Leder P. 1991. Transmembrane form of the kit ligand growth factor is determined by alternative splicing and is missing in the Sld mutant. Cell. 64: 1025-1035.
- Ford OH, 3rd, Gregory CW, Kim D, Smitherman AB, and Mohler JL. 2003. Androgen receptor gene amplification and protein expression in recurrent prostate cancer. J Urol. 170: 1817-1821.
- Frick J, and Aulitzky W. 1991. Physiology of the prostate. Infection. 19 Suppl 3: S115-118.
- Gagari E, Rand MK, Tayari L, Vastardis H, Sharma P, Hauschka PV, and Damoulis PD. 2006. Expression of stem cell factor and its receptor, c-kit, in human oral mesenchymal cells. Eur J Oral Sci. 114: 409-415.
- Gann PH, Hennekens CH, Ma J, Longcope C, and Stampfer MJ. 1996. Prospective study of sex hormone levels and risk of prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 88: 1118-1126.
- Geissler EN, Liao M, Brook JD, Martin FH, Zsebo KM, Housman DE, and Galli SJ. 1991. Stem cell factor (SCF), a novel hematopoietic growth factor and ligand for c-kit tyrosine kinase receptor, maps on human chromosome 12 between 12q14.3 and 12qter. Somat Cell Mol Genet. 17: 207-214.
- Geissler EN, Ryan MA, and Housman DE. 1988. The dominant-white spotting (W) locus of the mouse encodes the c-kit proto-oncogene. Cell. 55: 185-192.
- Gerdes J, Lemke H, Baisch H, Wacker HH, Schwab U, and Stein H. 1984. Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki-67. J Immunol. 133: 1710-1715.
- Gibson DA, and Saunders PT. 2012. Estrogen dependent signaling in reproductive tissues a role for estrogen receptors and estrogen related receptors. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 348: 361-372.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, and Willett WC. 1997. Height, body weight, and risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 6: 557-563.
- Gleason DF, and Mellinger GT. 1974. Prediction of prognosis for prostatic adenocarcinoma by combined histological grading and clinical staging. J Urol. 111: 58-64.
- Gomella LG. 2009. Effective testosterone suppression for prostate cancer: is there a best castration therapy? Rev Urol. 11: 52-60.
- Gomes IM, Santos CR, Socorro S, and Maia CJ. 2013. Six transmembrane epithelial antigen of the prostate 1 is down-regulated by sex hormones in prostate cells. Prostate. 73: 605-613.
- Guo Z, Yang X, Sun F, Jiang R, Linn DE, Chen H, Chen H, Kong X, Melamed J, Tepper CG, Kung HJ, Brodie AM, Edwards J, and Qiu Y. 2009. A novel androgen receptor splice variant is upregulated during prostate cancer progression and promotes androgen depletion-resistant growth. Cancer Res. 69: 2305-2313.
- Guyton AC, and Hall JE (2006). "Reproductive and Hormonal Functions of the Male (and Function of the Pineal Gland)," in *TEXTBOOK of Medical Physiology*, ed. Elsevier. 11th ed (Philadelphia: Saunders), 996-1008.
- Habel LA, Van Den Eeden SK, and Friedman GD. 2000. Body size, age at shaving initiation, and prostate cancer in a large, multiracial cohort. Prostate. 43: 136-143.
- Hammerich KH, Ayala GE, and Wheeler TM (2009). "Anatomy of the prostate gland and surgical pathology of prostate cancer," in *Prostate Cancer*, ed. Hedvig Hricak and Peter T. Scardino. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 1-10.
- Han G, Buchanan G, Ittmann M, Harris JM, Yu X, Demayo FJ, Tilley W, and Greenberg NM. 2005. Mutation of the androgen receptor causes oncogenic transformation of the prostate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 102: 1151-1156.

- Hardell L, Andersson SO, Carlberg M, Bohr L, Van Bavel B, Lindstrom G, Bjornfoth H, and Ginman C. 2006. Adipose tissue concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and the risk of prostate cancer. J Occup Environ Med. 48: 700-707.
- Harris MH, and Thompson CB. 2000. The role of the Bcl-2 family in the regulation of outer mitochondrial membrane permeability. Cell Death Differ. 7: 1182-1191.
- Harris MT, Feldberg RS, Lau KM, Lazarus NH, and Cochrane DE. 2000. Expression of proinflammatory genes during estrogen-induced inflammation of the rat prostate. Prostate. 44: 19-25.
- Hayward SW, and Cunha GR. 2000. THE PROSTATE: DEVELOPMENT AND PHYSIOLOGY. Radiologic Clinics of North America. 38: 1-14.
- Heer R, Robson CN, Shenton BK, and Leung HY. 2007. The role of androgen in determining differentiation and regulation of androgen receptor expression in the human prostatic epithelium transient amplifying population. J Cell Physiol. 212: 572-578.
- Heidenreich A, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, Mason M, Matveev V, Mottet N, Schmid HP, Van Der Kwast T, Wiegel T, and Zattoni F. 2011. EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. Part 1: screening, diagnosis, and treatment of clinically localised disease. Eur Urol. 59: 61-71.
- Heinlein CA, and Chang C. 2002. Androgen receptor (AR) coregulators: an overview. Endocr Rev. 23: 175-200.
- Hemminki K, and Czene K. 2002. Age specific and attributable risks of familial prostate carcinoma from the family-cancer database. Cancer. 95: 1346-1353.
- Ho SM, Lee MT, Lam HM, and Leung YK. 2011. Estrogens and prostate cancer: etiology, mediators, prevention, and management. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 40: 591-614.
- Hoffman KE. 2012. Management of older men with clinically localized prostate cancer: the significance of advanced age and comorbidity. Semin Radiat Oncol. 22: 284-294.
- Horoszewicz JS, Leong SS, Chu TM, Wajsman ZL, Friedman M, Papsidero L, Kim U, Chai LS, Kakati S, Arya SK, and Sandberg AA. 1980. The LNCaP cell line--a new model for studies on human prostatic carcinoma. Prog Clin Biol Res. 37: 115-132.
- Horoszewicz JS, Leong SS, Kawinski E, Karr JP, Rosenthal H, Chu TM, Mirand EA, and Murphy GP. 1983. LNCaP model of human prostatic carcinoma. Cancer Res. 43: 1809-1818.
- Horvath LG, Henshall SM, Lee CS, Head DR, Quinn DI, Makela S, Delprado W, Golovsky D, Brenner PC, O'neill G, Kooner R, Stricker PD, Grygiel JJ, Gustafsson JA, and Sutherland RL. 2001. Frequent loss of estrogen receptor-beta expression in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 61: 5331-5335.
- Hsu T, Trojanowska M, and Watson DK. 2004. Ets proteins in biological control and cancer. J Cell Biochem. 91: 896-903.
- Hu R, Dunn TA, Wei S, Isharwal S, Veltri RW, Humphreys E, Han M, Partin AW, Vessella RL, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, and Luo J. 2009. Ligand-independent androgen receptor variants derived from splicing of cryptic exons signify hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 69: 16-22.
- Hu R, Lu C, Mostaghel EA, Yegnasubramanian S, Gurel M, Tannahill C, Edwards J, Isaacs WB, Nelson PS, Bluemn E, Plymate SR, and Luo J. 2012a. Distinct transcriptional programs mediated by the ligand-dependent full-length androgen receptor and its splice variants in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 72: 3457-3462.
- Hu WY, Shi GB, Hu DP, Nelles JL, and Prins GS. 2012b. Actions of estrogens and endocrine disrupting chemicals on human prostate stem/progenitor cells and prostate cancer risk. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 354: 63-73.
- Huang EJ, Nocka KH, Buck J, and Besmer P. 1992. Differential expression and processing of two cell associated forms of the kit-ligand: KL-1 and KL-2. Mol Biol Cell. 3: 349-362.
- Huansheng D, Qingjie P, Hanqiong Z, Lianjun Z, Bo C, and Wenbin Y. 2011. Estrogen inhibits the early development of mouse follicles through regulating the expression of Kit ligand. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 410: 659-664.
- Huggins C. 1967. Endocrine-induced regression of cancers. Cancer Res. 27: 1925-1930.
- Huggins C, and Hodges CV. 1972. Studies on prostatic cancer. I. The effect of castration, of estrogen and androgen injection on serum phosphatases in metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. CA Cancer J Clin. 22: 232-240.
- Hurtado A, Pinos T, Barbosa-Desongles A, Lopez-Aviles S, Barquinero J, Petriz J, Santamaria-Martinez A, Morote J, De Torres I, Bellmunt J, Reventos J, and Munell F. 2008. Estrogen receptor beta displays cell cycle-dependent expression and regulates the G1 phase through a non-genomic mechanism in prostate carcinoma cells. Cell Oncol. 30: 349-365.
- Imura M, Kojima Y, Kubota Y, Hamakawa T, Yasui T, Sasaki S, Hayashi Y, and Kohri K. 2012. Regulation of cell proliferation through a KIT-mediated mechanism in benign prostatic hyperplasia. Prostate. 72: 1506-1513.
- Isaacs JT, and Coffey DS. 1989. Etiology and disease process of benign prostatic hyperplasia. Prostate Suppl. 2: 33-50.
- Jones R, and Lopez K (2006). "The Male Reproductive System," in *Human Reproductive Biology*, ed. Elsevier. 3rd ed), 102-107.
- Kaighn ME, Narayan KS, Ohnuki Y, Lechner JF, and Jones LW. 1979. Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). Invest Urol. 17: 16-23.

- Kanagaraj P, Vijayababu MR, Ilangovan R, Senthilkumar K, Venkataraman P, Aruldhas MM, and Arunakaran J. 2007. Effect of 17beta-estradiol on apoptosis, IGF system components and gelatinases A and B in prostate cancer cells (PC-3). Clin Chim Acta. 377: 70-78.
- Kapur R, Chandra S, Cooper R, Mccarthy J, and Williams DA. 2002. Role of p38 and ERK MAP kinase in proliferation of erythroid progenitors in response to stimulation by soluble and membrane isoforms of stem cell factor. Blood. 100: 1287-1293.
- Karan D, Thrasher JB, and Lubaroff D. 2008. Prostate cancer: genes, environment, immunity and the use of immunotherapy. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 11: 230-236.
- Kawakita M, Yonemura Y, Miyake H, Ohkubo T, Asou N, Hayakawa K, Nakamura M, Kitoh T, Osawa H, Takatsuki K, and Et Al. 1995. Soluble c-kit molecule in serum from healthy individuals and patients with haemopoietic disorders. Br J Haematol. 91: 23-29.
- Kimura K, Markowski M, Bowen C, and Gelmann EP. 2001. Androgen blocks apoptosis of hormonedependent prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 61: 5611-5618.
- King KJ, Nicholson HD, and Assinder SJ. 2006. Effect of increasing ratio of estrogen: androgen on proliferation of normal human prostate stromal and epithelial cells, and the malignant cell line LNCaP. Prostate. 66: 105-114.
- Knudsen KE, Arden KC, and Cavenee WK. 1998. Multiple G1 regulatory elements control the androgendependent proliferation of prostatic carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem. 273: 20213-20222.
- Koksal IT, Sanlioglu AD, Kutlu O, and Sanlioglu S. 2010. Effects of androgen ablation therapy in TRAIL death ligand and its receptors expression in advanced prostate cancer. Urol Int. 84: 445-451.
- Krolik M, and Milnerowicz H. 2012. The effect of using estrogens in the light of scientific research. Adv Clin Exp Med. 21: 535-543.
- Krystal GW, Hines SJ, and Organ CP. 1996. Autocrine growth of small cell lung cancer mediated by coexpression of c-kit and stem cell factor. Cancer Res. 56: 370-376.
- Kundu MC, Wojtusik J, and Johnson PA. 2012. Expression and regulation of Kit ligand in the ovary of the hen. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 179: 47-52.
- Kusljic S, and Exintaris B. 2010. The effect of estrogen supplementation on cell proliferation and expression of c-kit positive cells in the rat prostate. Prostate. 70: 1555-1562.
- La Sala G, Farini D, and De Felici M. 2010. Rapid estrogen signalling in mouse primordial germ cells. Exp Cell Res. 316: 1716-1727.
- Lai KP, Yamashita S, Huang CK, Yeh S, and Chang C. 2012. Loss of stromal androgen receptor leads to suppressed prostate tumourigenesis via modulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines. EMBO Mol Med. 4: 791-807.
- Lammie A, Drobnjak M, Gerald W, Saad A, Cote R, and Cordon-Cardo C. 1994. Expression of c-kit and kit ligand proteins in normal human tissues. J Histochem Cytochem. 42: 1417-1425.
- Langley KE, Mendiaz EA, Liu N, Narhi LO, Zeni L, Parseghian CM, Clogston CL, Leslie I, Pope JA, Lu HS, and Et Al. 1994. Properties of variant forms of human stem cell factor recombinantly expressed in Escherichia coli. Arch Biochem Biophys. 311: 55-61.
- Lau KM, Laspina M, Long J, and Ho SM. 2000. Expression of estrogen receptor (ER)-alpha and ER-beta in normal and malignant prostatic epithelial cells: regulation by methylation and involvement in growth regulation. Cancer Res. 60: 3175-3182.
- Lawen A. 2003. Apoptosis-an introduction. Bioessays. 25: 888-896.
- Lawson DA, Zong Y, Memarzadeh S, Xin L, Huang J, and Witte ON. 2010. Basal epithelial stem cells are efficient targets for prostate cancer initiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107: 2610-2615.
- Leav I, Lau KM, Adams JY, Mcneal JE, Taplin ME, Wang J, Singh H, and Ho SM. 2001. Comparative studies of the estrogen receptors beta and alpha and the androgen receptor in normal human prostate glands, dysplasia, and in primary and metastatic carcinoma. Am J Pathol. 159: 79-92.
- Lee CH, Akin-Olugbade O, and Kirschenbaum A. 2011. Overview of prostate anatomy, histology, and pathology. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 40: 565-575.
- Lee HR, Hwang KA, and Choi KC. 2014. The estrogen receptor signaling pathway activated by phthalates is linked with transforming growth factor-beta in the progression of LNCaP prostate cancer models. Int J Oncol. 45: 595-602.
- Lemarchand C, Tual S, Leveque-Morlais N, Perrier S, Guizard AV, Velten M, Rigaud E, Baldi I, and Lebailly P. 2014. 0206 Prostate cancer risk among French farmers in the AGRICAN cohort. Occup Environ Med. 71 Suppl 1: A86-87.
- Lemmon MA, and Ferguson KM. 2007. A new twist in the transmembrane signaling tool-kit. Cell. 130: 213-215.
- Lennartsson J, and Ronnstrand L. 2006. The stem cell factor receptor/c-Kit as a drug target in cancer. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 6: 65-75.
- Leong KG, Wang BE, Johnson L, and Gao WQ. 2008. Generation of a prostate from a single adult stem cell. Nature. 456: 804-808.
- Lewandowski S, Kalita K, and Kaczmarek L. 2002. Estrogen receptor beta. Potential functional significance of a variety of mRNA isoforms. FEBS Lett. 524: 1-5.
- Liang J, Wu YL, Chen BJ, Zhang W, Tanaka Y, and Sugiyama H. 2013. The C-kit receptor-mediated signal transduction and tumor-related diseases. Int J Biol Sci. 9: 435-443.

- Lin B, Ferguson C, White JT, Wang S, Vessella R, True LD, Hood L, and Nelson PS. 1999. Prostatelocalized and androgen-regulated expression of the membrane-bound serine protease TMPRSS2. Cancer Res. 59: 4180-4184.
- Lin C, Yang L, Tanasa B, Hutt K, Ju BG, Ohgi K, Zhang J, Rose DW, Fu XD, Glass CK, and Rosenfeld MG. 2009. Nuclear receptor-induced chromosomal proximity and DNA breaks underlie specific translocations in cancer. Cell. 139: 1069-1083.
- Lin H, Lu JP, Laflamme P, Qiao S, Shayegan B, Bryskin I, Monardo L, Wilson BC, Singh G, and Pinthus JH. 2010. Inter-related in vitro effects of androgens, fatty acids and oxidative stress in prostate cancer: a mechanistic model supporting prevention strategies. Int J Oncol. 37: 761-766.
- Linja MJ, and Visakorpi T. 2004. Alterations of androgen receptor in prostate cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 92: 255-264.
- Lobaccaro JM, and Trousson A. 2014. Environmental estrogen exposure during fetal life: a time bomb for prostate cancer. Endocrinology. 155: 656-658.
- Lu JP, Monardo L, Bryskin I, Hou ZF, Trachtenberg J, Wilson BC, and Pinthus JH. 2010. Androgens induce oxidative stress and radiation resistance in prostate cancer cells though NADPH oxidase. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 13: 39-46.
- Lu S, Liu M, Epner DE, Tsai SY, and Tsai MJ. 1999. Androgen regulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 gene through an androgen response element in the proximal promoter. Mol Endocrinol. 13: 376-384.
- Mackey TJ, Borkowski A, Amin P, Jacobs SC, and Kyprianou N. 1998. bcl-2/bax ratio as a predictive marker for therapeutic response to radiotherapy in patients with prostate cancer. Urology. 52: 1085-1090.
- Mahajan R, Bonner MR, Hoppin JA, and Alavanja MC. 2006. Phorate exposure and incidence of cancer in the agricultural health study. Environ Health Perspect. 114: 1205-1209.
- Majumdar MK, Feng L, Medlock E, Toksoz D, and Williams DA. 1994. Identification and mutation of primary and secondary proteolytic cleavage sites in murine stem cell factor cDNA yields biologically active, cell-associated protein. J Biol Chem. 269: 1237-1242.
- Mak P, Chang C, Pursell B, and Mercurio AM. 2013. Estrogen receptor beta sustains epithelial differentiation by regulating prolyl hydroxylase 2 transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 110: 4708-4713.
- Makowska JS, Cieslak M, and Kowalski ML. 2009. Stem cell factor and its soluble receptor (c-kit) in serum of asthmatic patients- correlation with disease severity. BMC Pulm Med. 9: 27.
- Mangelsdorf DJ, Thummel C, Beato M, Herrlich P, Schutz G, Umesono K, Blumberg B, Kastner P, Mark M, Chambon P, and Evans RM. 1995. The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. Cell. 83: 835-839.
- Mansuroglu T, Ramadori P, Dudas J, Malik I, Hammerich K, Fuzesi L, and Ramadori G. 2009. Expression of stem cell factor and its receptor c-Kit during the development of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. Lab Invest. 89: 562-574.
- Martin FH, Suggs SV, Langley KE, Lu HS, Ting J, Okino KH, Morris CF, Mcniece IK, Jacobsen FW, Mendiaz EA, and Et Al. 1990. Primary structure and functional expression of rat and human stem cell factor DNAs. Cell. 63: 203-211.
- Mata J, Marguerat S, and Bahler J. 2005. Post-transcriptional control of gene expression: a genome-wide perspective. Trends Biochem Sci. 30: 506-514.
- Mccall P, Gemmell LK, Mukherjee R, Bartlett JM, and Edwards J. 2008. Phosphorylation of the androgen receptor is associated with reduced survival in hormone-refractory prostate cancer patients. Br J Cancer. 98: 1094-1101.
- Mcneal JE. 1981. The zonal anatomy of the prostate. Prostate. 2: 35-49.
- Mcpherson SJ, Hussain S, Balanathan P, Hedwards SL, Niranjan B, Grant M, Chandrasiri UP, Toivanen R, Wang Y, Taylor RA, and Risbridger GP. 2010. Estrogen receptor-beta activated apoptosis in benign hyperplasia and cancer of the prostate is androgen independent and TNFalpha mediated. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107: 3123-3128.
- Mcpherson SJ, Wang H, Jones ME, Pedersen J, Iismaa TP, Wreford N, Simpson ER, and Risbridger GP. 2001. Elevated androgens and prolactin in aromatase-deficient mice cause enlargement, but not malignancy, of the prostate gland. Endocrinology. 142: 2458-2467.
- Mickey DD, Stone KR, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, Vollmer RT, and Paulson DF. 1977. Heterotransplantation of a human prostatic adenocarcinoma cell line in nude mice. Cancer Res. 37: 4049-4058.
- Miller DC, Hafez KS, Stewart A, Montie JE, and Wei JT. 2003. Prostate carcinoma presentation, diagnosis, and staging: an update form the National Cancer Data Base. Cancer. 98: 1169-1178.
- Miranda N, Nogueira PJ, Silva AJ, Rosa MV, Alves MI, Afonso D, Portugal AC, Somsen E, Martins J, Serra L, and Oliveira AL (2013). Portugal. Doenças Oncológicas em números 2013. Programa Nacional para as Doenças Oncológicas.
- Misiakiewicz K, Kolasa A, Kondarewicz A, Marchlewicz M, and Wiszniewska B. 2013. Expression of the c-Kit receptor in germ cells of the seminiferous epithelium in rats with hormonal imbalance. Reprod Biol. 13: 333-340.

- Miyazawa K, Williams DA, Gotoh A, Nishimaki J, Broxmeyer HE, and Toyama K. 1995. Membrane-bound Steel factor induces more persistent tyrosine kinase activation and longer life span of c-kit gene-encoded protein than its soluble form. Blood. 85: 641-649.
- Moe-Behrens GH, Klinger FG, Eskild W, Grotmol T, Haugen TB, and De Felici M. 2003. Akt/PTEN signaling mediates estrogen-dependent proliferation of primordial germ cells in vitro. Mol Endocrinol. 17: 2630-2638.
- Mol CD, Lim KB, Sridhar V, Zou H, Chien EY, Sang BC, Nowakowski J, Kassel DB, Cronin CN, and Mcree DE. 2003. Structure of a c-kit product complex reveals the basis for kinase transactivation. J Biol Chem. 278: 31461-31464.
- Montero JC, Lopez-Perez R, San Miguel JF, and Pandiella A. 2008. Expression of c-Kit isoforms in multiple myeloma: differences in signaling and drug sensitivity. Haematologica. 93: 851-859.
- Montgomery B, Nelson PS, Vessella R, Kalhorn T, Hess D, and Corey E. 2010. Estradiol suppresses tissue androgens and prostate cancer growth in castration resistant prostate cancer. BMC Cancer. 10: 244.
- Montgomery RB, Mostaghel EA, Vessella R, Hess DL, Kalhorn TF, Higano CS, True LD, and Nelson PS. 2008. Maintenance of intratumoral androgens in metastatic prostate cancer: a mechanism for castration-resistant tumor growth. Cancer Res. 68: 4447-4454.
- Mordukhovich I, Reiter PL, Backes DM, Family L, Mccullough LE, O'brien KM, Razzaghi H, and Olshan AF. 2011. A review of African American-white differences in risk factors for cancer: prostate cancer. Cancer Causes Control. 22: 341-357.
- Morii E, Hirota S, Kim HM, Mikoshiba K, Nishimune Y, Kitamura Y, and Nomura S. 1992. Spatial expression of genes encoding c-kit receptors and their ligands in mouse cerebellum as revealed by in situ hybridization. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 65: 123-126.
- Mosli HA, Tolba MF, Al-Abd AM, and Abdel-Naim AB. 2013. Catechol estrogens induce proliferation and malignant transformation in prostate epithelial cells. Toxicol Lett. 220: 247-258.
- Muciaccia B, Sette C, Paronetto MP, Barchi M, Pensini S, D'agostino A, Gandini L, Geremia R, Stefanini M, and Rossi P. 2010. Expression of a truncated form of KIT tyrosine kinase in human spermatozoa correlates with sperm DNA integrity. Hum Reprod. 25: 2188-2202.
- Nakamura Y, Tajima F, Ishiga K, Yamazaki H, Oshimura M, Shiota G, and Murawaki Y. 2004. Soluble c-kit receptor mobilizes hematopoietic stem cells to peripheral blood in mice. Exp Hematol. 32: 390-396.
- Naslund MJ, and Coffey DS. 1986. The differential effects of neonatal androgen, estrogen and progesterone on adult rat prostate growth. J Urol. 136: 1136-1140.
- Natali PG, Nicotra MR, Sures I, Santoro E, Bigotti A, and Ullrich A. 1992. Expression of c-kit receptor in normal and transformed human nonlymphoid tissues. Cancer Res. 52: 6139-6143.
- Nishikawa S, Kusakabe M, Yoshinaga K, Ogawa M, Hayashi S, Kunisada T, Era T, Sakakura T, and Nishikawa S. 1991. In utero manipulation of coat color formation by a monoclonal anti-c-kit antibody: two distinct waves of c-kit-dependency during melanocyte development. Embo j. 10: 2111-2118.
- Noble RL. 1977. The development of prostatic adenocarcinoma in Nb rats following prolonged sex hormone administration. Cancer Res. 37: 1929-1933.
- Nocka K, Buck J, Levi E, and Besmer P. 1990. Candidate ligand for the c-kit transmembrane kinase receptor: KL, a fibroblast derived growth factor stimulates mast cells and erythroid progenitors. Embo j. 9: 3287-3294.
- Oh WK. 2002. The evolving role of estrogen therapy in prostate cancer. Clin Prostate Cancer. 1: 81-89.
- Orsted DD, and Bojesen SE. 2013. The link between benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer. Nat Rev Urol. 10: 49-54.
- Pandiella A, Bosenberg MW, Huang EJ, Besmer P, and Massague J. 1992. Cleavage of membraneanchored growth factors involves distinct protease activities regulated through common mechanisms. J Biol Chem. 267: 24028-24033.
- Pandini G, Genua M, Frasca F, Squatrito S, Vigneri R, and Belfiore A. 2007. 17beta-estradiol up-regulates the insulin-like growth factor receptor through a nongenotropic pathway in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 67: 8932-8941.
- Paronetto MP, Farini D, Sammarco I, Maturo G, Vespasiani G, Geremia R, Rossi P, and Sette C. 2004. Expression of a truncated form of the c-Kit tyrosine kinase receptor and activation of Src kinase in human prostatic cancer. Am J Pathol. 164: 1243-1251.
- Paulhe F, Wehrle-Haller M, Jacquier MC, Imhof BA, Tabone-Eglinger S, and Wehrle-Haller B. 2009. Dimerization of Kit-ligand and efficient cell-surface presentation requires a conserved Ser-Gly-Gly-Tyr motif in its transmembrane domain. Faseb j. 23: 3037-3048.
- Pfaffl MW. 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 29: e45.
- Pfeiffer MJ, Smit FP, Sedelaar JP, and Schalken JA. 2011. Steroidogenic enzymes and stem cell markers are upregulated during androgen deprivation in prostate cancer. Mol Med. 17: 657-664.
- Phillips R. 2014. Prostate cancer: PSA update-no change yet. Nat Rev Urol. 11: 483.

- Philo JS, Wen J, Wypych J, Schwartz MG, Mendiaz EA, and Langley KE. 1996. Human stem cell factor dimer forms a complex with two molecules of the extracellular domain of its receptor, Kit. J Biol Chem. 271: 6895-6902.
- Phung B, Steingrimsson E, and Ronnstrand L. 2013. Differential activity of c-KIT splice forms is controlled by extracellular peptide insert length. Cell Signal. 25: 2231-2238.

Piccolella M, Crippa V, Messi E, Tetel MJ, and Poletti A. 2014. Modulators of estrogen receptor inhibit proliferation and migration of prostate cancer cells. Pharmacological Research. 79: 13-20.

Powers GL, and Marker PC. 2013. Recent advances in prostate development and links to prostatic diseases. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med. 5: 243-256.

Pravettoni A, Mornati O, Martini PG, Marino M, Colciago A, Celotti F, Motta M, and Negri-Cesi P. 2007. Estrogen receptor beta (ERbeta) and inhibition of prostate cancer cell proliferation: studies on the possible mechanism of action in DU145 cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 263: 46-54.

Prins GS. 1992. Neonatal estrogen exposure induces lobe-specific alterations in adult rat prostate androgen receptor expression. Endocrinology. 130: 2401-2412.

Prins GS. 2008. Endocrine disruptors and prostate cancer risk. Endocr Relat Cancer. 15: 649-656.

- Prins GS, Birch L, Tang WY, and Ho SM. 2007. Developmental estrogen exposures predispose to prostate carcinogenesis with aging. Reprod Toxicol. 23: 374-382.
- Prins GS, Marmer M, Woodham C, Chang W, Kuiper G, Gustafsson JA, and Birch L. 1998. Estrogen receptor-beta messenger ribonucleic acid ontogeny in the prostate of normal and neonatally estrogenized rats. Endocrinology. 139: 874-883.
- Prossnitz ER, Arterburn JB, Smith HO, Oprea TI, Sklar LA, and Hathaway HJ. 2008. Estrogen signaling through the transmembrane G protein-coupled receptor GPR30. Annu Rev Physiol. 70: 165-190.
- Putzi MJ, and De Marzo AM. 2000. Morphologic transitions between proliferative inflammatory atrophy and high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Urology. 56: 828-832.
- Qadan LR, Perez-Stable CM, Anderson C, D'ippolito G, Herron A, Howard GA, and Roos BA. 2001. 2-Methoxyestradiol induces G2/M arrest and apoptosis in prostate cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 285: 1259-1266.
- Raclaw KA, Heemers HV, Kidd EM, Dehm SM, and Tindall DJ. 2008. Induction of FLIP expression by androgens protects prostate cancer cells from TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. Prostate. 68: 1696-1706.
- Ratajczak MZ, Luger SM, Deriel K, Abrahm J, Calabretta B, and Gewirtz AM. 1992. Role of the KIT protooncogene in normal and malignant human hematopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 1710-1714.
- Raucci F, and Di Fiore MM. 2007. The c-kit receptor protein in the testis of green frog Rana esculenta: seasonal changes in relationship to testosterone titres and spermatogonial proliferation. Reproduction. 133: 51-60.
- Raucci F, and Di Fiore MM. 2009. The reproductive activity in the testis of Podarcis s. sicula involves Daspartic acid: a study on c-kit receptor protein, tyrosine kinase activity and PCNA protein during annual sexual cycle. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 161: 373-383.
- Reynolds MA. 2008. Molecular alterations in prostate cancer. Cancer Lett. 271: 13-24.
- Ricke WA, Ishii K, Ricke EA, Simko J, Wang Y, Hayward SW, and Cunha GR. 2006. Steroid hormones stimulate human prostate cancer progression and metastasis. Int J Cancer. 118: 2123-2131.
- Ricke WA, Wang Y, and Cunha GR. 2007. Steroid hormones and carcinogenesis of the prostate: the role of estrogens. Differentiation. 75: 871-882.
- Risbridger GP, Ellem SJ, and Mcpherson SJ. 2007. Estrogen action on the prostate gland: a critical mix of endocrine and paracrine signaling. J Mol Endocrinol. 39: 183-188.
- Risbridger GP, Wang H, Frydenberg M, and Cunha G. 2001. The metaplastic effects of estrogen on mouse prostate epithelium: proliferation of cells with basal cell phenotype. Endocrinology. 142: 2443-2450.

Roberts RO, Bergstralh EJ, Bass SE, Lieber MM, and Jacobsen SJ. 2004. Prostatitis as a risk factor for prostate cancer. Epidemiology. 15: 93-99.

- Robertson CN, Roberson KM, Padilla GM, O'brien ET, Cook JM, Kim CS, and Fine RL. 1996. Induction of apoptosis by diethylstilbestrol in hormone-insensitive prostate cancer cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 88: 908-917.
- Roelants H, Schneider F, Goritz F, Streich J, and Blottner S. 2002. Seasonal changes of spermatogonial proliferation in roe deer, demonstrated by flow cytometric analysis of c-kit receptor, in relation to follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, and testosterone. Biol Reprod. 66: 305-312.
- Rokhlin OW, Taghiyev AF, Guseva NV, Glover RA, Chumakov PM, Kravchenko JE, and Cohen MB. 2005. Androgen regulates apoptosis induced by TNFR family ligands via multiple signaling pathways in LNCaP. Oncogene. 24: 6773-6784.
- Ronnstrand L. 2004. Signal transduction via the stem cell factor receptor/c-Kit. Cell Mol Life Sci. 61: 2535-2548.
- Ropero AB, Pang Y, Alonso-Magdalena P, Thomas P, and Nadal A. 2012. Role of ERbeta and GPR30 in the endocrine pancreas: A matter of estrogen dose. Steroids. 77: 951-958.

- Roskoski R, Jr. 2005. Structure and regulation of Kit protein-tyrosine kinase--the stem cell factor receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 338: 1307-1315.
- Ross RK, Pike MC, Coetzee GA, Reichardt JK, Yu MC, Feigelson H, Stanczyk FZ, Kolonel LN, and Henderson BE. 1998. Androgen metabolism and prostate cancer: establishing a model of genetic susceptibility. Cancer Res. 58: 4497-4504.
- Rossi P, Marziali G, Albanesi C, Charlesworth A, Geremia R, and Sorrentino V. 1992. A novel c-kit transcript, potentially encoding a truncated receptor, originates within a kit gene intron in mouse spermatids. Dev Biol. 152: 203-207.
- Rozen S, and Skaletsky H. 2000. Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods Mol Biol. 132: 365-386.
- Rudra-Ganguly N, Zheng J, Hoang AT, and Roy-Burman P. 1998. Downregulation of human FGF8 activity by antisense constructs in murine fibroblastic and human prostatic carcinoma cell systems. Oncogene. 16: 1487-1492.
- Salonia A, Gallina A, Briganti A, Suardi N, Capitanio U, Abdollah F, Bertini R, Freschi M, Rigatti P, and Montorsi F. 2011. Circulating estradiol, but not testosterone, is a significant predictor of highgrade prostate cancer in patients undergoing radical prostatectomy. Cancer. 117: 5029-5038.
- Saraon P, Jarvi K, and Diamandis EP. 2011. Molecular alterations during progression of prostate cancer to androgen independence. Clin Chem. 57: 1366-1375.
- Sato T, Yokonishi T, Komeya M, Katagiri K, Kubota Y, Matoba S, Ogonuki N, Ogura A, Yoshida S, and Ogawa T. 2012. Testis tissue explantation cures spermatogenic failure in c-Kit ligand mutant mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 109: 16934-16938.
- Savarese DM, Valinski H, Quesenberry P, and Savarese T. 1998. Expression and function of colonystimulating factors and their receptors in human prostate carcinoma cell lines. Prostate. 34: 80-91.
- Sensibar JA. 1995. Analysis of cell death and cell proliferation in embryonic stages, normal adult, and aging prostates in human and animals. Microsc Res Tech. 30: 342-350.
- Setlur SR, Chen CX, Hossain RR, Ha JS, Van Doren VE, Stenzel B, Steiner E, Oldridge D, Kitabayashi N, Banerjee S, Chen JY, Schafer G, Horninger W, Lee C, Rubin MA, Klocker H, and Demichelis F. 2010. Genetic variation of genes involved in dihydrotestosterone metabolism and the risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 19: 229-239.
- Sette C, Bevilacqua A, Geremia R, and Rossi P. 1998. Involvement of phospholipase Cgamma1 in mouse egg activation induced by a truncated form of the C-kit tyrosine kinase present in spermatozoa. J Cell Biol. 142: 1063-1074.
- Shafik A, Shafik I, and El-Sibai O. 2005. Identification of c-kit-positive cells in the human prostate: the interstitial cells of Cajal. Arch Androl. 51: 345-351.
- Shi Y, Han JJ, Tennakoon JB, Mehta FF, Merchant FA, Burns AR, Howe MK, Mcdonnell DP, and Frigo DE. 2013. Androgens promote prostate cancer cell growth through induction of autophagy. Mol Endocrinol. 27: 280-295.
- Shiina H, Matsumoto T, Sato T, Igarashi K, Miyamoto J, Takemasa S, Sakari M, Takada I, Nakamura T, Metzger D, Chambon P, Kanno J, Yoshikawa H, and Kato S. 2006. Premature ovarian failure in androgen receptor-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103: 224-229.
- Simak R, Capodieci P, Cohen DW, Fair WR, Scher H, Melamed J, Drobnjak M, Heston WD, Stix U, Steiner G, and Cordon-Cardo C. 2000. Expression of c-kit and kit-ligand in benign and malignant prostatic tissues. Histol Histopathol. 15: 365-374.
- Simmons MN, and Klein EA. 2009. Combined androgen blockade revisited: emerging options for the treatment of castration-resistant prostate cancer. Urology. 73: 697-705.
- Sooriakumaran P, Sievert KD, Srivastava Á, and Tewari A (2012). "Applied Anatomy of the Prostate," in *ABC of Prostate Cancer*, ed. Prokar Dasgupta and Roger S. Kirby. 1st ed: Blackwell Publishing), 1-4.
- Stephens FO. 1997. Phytoestrogens and prostate cancer: possible preventive role. Med J Aust. 167: 138-140.
- Stone KR, Mickey DD, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, and Paulson DF. 1978. Isolation of a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU 145). Int J Cancer. 21: 274-281.
- Stoop H, Honecker F, Van De Geijn GJ, Gillis AJ, Cools MC, De Boer M, Bokemeyer C, Wolffenbuttel KP, Drop SL, De Krijger RR, Dennis N, Summersgill B, Mcintyre A, Shipley J, Oosterhuis JW, and Looijenga LH. 2008. Stem cell factor as a novel diagnostic marker for early malignant germ cells. J Pathol. 216: 43-54.
- Takaoka A, Toyota M, Hinoda Y, Itoh F, Mita H, Kakiuchi H, Adachi M, and Imai K. 1997. Expression and identification of aberrant c-kit transcripts in human cancer cells. Cancer Lett. 115: 257-261.
- Takase Y, Levesque MH, Luu-The V, El-Alfy M, Labrie F, and Pelletier G. 2006. Expression of enzymes involved in estrogen metabolism in human prostate. J Histochem Cytochem. 54: 911-921.
- Tanaka Y, Sasaki M, Kaneuchi M, Shiina H, Igawa M, and Dahiya R. 2003. Polymorphisms of estrogen receptor alpha in prostate cancer. Mol Carcinog. 37: 202-208.
- Tanikawa M, Harada T, Mitsunari M, Onohara Y, Iwabe T, and Terakawa N. 1998. Expression of c-kit messenger ribonucleic acid in human oocyte and presence of soluble c-kit in follicular fluid. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 83: 1239-1242.

- Taplin ME, and Balk SP. 2004. Androgen receptor: a key molecule in the progression of prostate cancer to hormone independence. J Cell Biochem. 91: 483-490.
- Tewari AK, Whelan P, and Graham JD (2014). Prostate Cancer Diagnosis and Clinical Management. John Wiley & Sons.
- Thellenberg-Karlsson C, Lindstrom S, Malmer B, Wiklund F, Augustsson-Balter K, Adami HO, Stattin P, Nilsson M, Dahlman-Wright K, Gustafsson JA, and Gronberg H. 2006. Estrogen receptor beta polymorphism is associated with prostate cancer risk. Clin Cancer Res. 12: 1936-1941.
- Thompson IM, Pauler DK, Goodman PJ, Tangen CM, Lucia MS, Parnes HL, Minasian LM, Ford LG, Lippman SM, Crawford ED, Crowley JJ, and Coltman CA, Jr. 2004. Prevalence of prostate cancer among men with a prostate-specific antigen level < or =4.0 ng per milliliter. N Engl J Med. 350: 2239-2246.
- Tomlins SA, Rhodes DR, Perner S, Dhanasekaran SM, Mehra R, Sun XW, Varambally S, Cao X, Tchinda J, Kuefer R, Lee C, Montie JE, Shah RB, Pienta KJ, Rubin MA, and Chinnaiyan AM. 2005. Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. Science. 310: 644-648.
- Torring N, Dagnaes-Hansen F, Sorensen BS, Nexo E, and Hynes NE. 2003. ErbB1 and prostate cancer: ErbB1 activity is essential for androgen-induced proliferation and protection from the apoptotic effects of LY294002. Prostate. 56: 142-149.
- Toyota M, Hinoda Y, Itoh F, Takaoka A, Imai K, and Yachi A. 1994. Complementary DNA cloning and characterization of truncated form of c-kit in human colon carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 54: 272-275.
- Turner AM, Bennett LG, Lin NL, Wypych J, Bartley TD, Hunt RW, Atkins HL, Langley KE, Parker V, Martin F, and Et Al. 1995. Identification and characterization of a soluble c-kit receptor produced by human hematopoietic cell lines. Blood. 85: 2052-2058.
- Ulivi P, Zoli W, Medri L, Amadori D, Saragoni L, Barbanti F, Calistri D, and Silvestrini R. 2004. c-kit and SCF expression in normal and tumor breast tissue. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 83: 33-42.
- Ullrich A, and Schlessinger J. 1990. Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. Cell. 61: 203-212.
- Van Der Aa F, Roskams T, Blyweert W, and De Ridder D. 2003. Interstitial cells in the human prostate: a new therapeutic target? Prostate. 56: 250-255.
- Vanputte CL, Regan JL, Russo AF, R.R. S, Stephens T, and Tate P (2014). "Reproductive System," in Seeley's Anatomy & Physiology, ed. The Mcgraw-Hill Companies. 10th ed (New York, NY: McGraw-Hill), 1016-1030.
- Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, and Socorro S. 2012. Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 44: 2077-2084.
- Veldscholte J, Ris-Stalpers C, Kuiper GG, Jenster G, Berrevoets C, Claassen E, Van Rooij HC, Trapman J, Brinkmann AO, and Mulder E. 1990. A mutation in the ligand binding domain of the androgen receptor of human LNCaP cells affects steroid binding characteristics and response to antiandrogens. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 173: 534-540.
- Vermeulen A, Kaufman JM, Goemaere S, and Van Pottelberg I. 2002. Estradiol in elderly men. Aging Male. 5: 98-102.
- Vivanco I, and Sawyers CL. 2002. The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2: 489-501.
- Vom Saal FS, Timms BG, Montano MM, Palanza P, Thayer KA, Nagel SC, Dhar MD, Ganjam VK, Parmigiani S, and Welshons WV. 1997. Prostate enlargement in mice due to fetal exposure to low doses of estradiol or diethylstilbestrol and opposite effects at high doses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94: 2056-2061.
- Voytyuk O, Lennartsson J, Mogi A, Caruana G, Courtneidge S, Ashman LK, and Ronnstrand L. 2003. Src family kinases are involved in the differential signaling from two splice forms of c-Kit. J Biol Chem. 278: 9159-9166.
- Wajant H. 2002. The Fas signaling pathway: more than a paradigm. Science. 296: 1635-1636.
- Waltering KK, Helenius MA, Sahu B, Manni V, Linja MJ, Janne OA, and Visakorpi T. 2009. Increased expression of androgen receptor sensitizes prostate cancer cells to low levels of androgens. Cancer Res. 69: 8141-8149.
- Wang X, Kruithof-De Julio M, Economides KD, Walker D, Yu H, Halili MV, Hu YP, Price SM, Abate-Shen C, and Shen MM. 2009. A luminal epithelial stem cell that is a cell of origin for prostate cancer. Nature. 461: 495-500.
- Wang ZA, Mitrofanova A, Bergren SK, Abate-Shen C, Cardiff RD, Califano A, and Shen MM. 2013. Lineage analysis of basal epithelial cells reveals their unexpected plasticity and supports a cell-of-origin model for prostate cancer heterogeneity. Nat Cell Biol. 15: 274-283.
- Wen J, Zhao Y, Li J, Weng C, Cai J, Yang K, Yuan H, Imperato-Mcginley J, and Zhu YS. 2013. Suppression of DHT-induced paracrine stimulation of endothelial cell growth by estrogens via prostate cancer cells. Prostate. 73: 1069-1081.
- Wen S, Niu Y, Lee SO, and Chang C. 2014. Androgen receptor (AR) positive vs negative roles in prostate cancer cell deaths including apoptosis, anoikis, entosis, necrosis and autophagic cell death. Cancer Treat Rev. 40: 31-40.

- Wiesner C, Nabha SM, Dos Santos EB, Yamamoto H, Meng H, Melchior SW, Bittinger F, Thuroff JW, Vessella RL, Cher ML, and Bonfil RD. 2008. C-kit and its ligand stem cell factor: potential contribution to prostate cancer bone metastasis. Neoplasia. 10: 996-1003.
- Williams DE, Eisenman J, Baird A, Rauch C, Van Ness K, March CJ, Park LS, Martin U, Mochizuki DY, Boswell HS, and Et Al. 1990. Identification of a ligand for the c-kit proto-oncogene. Cell. 63: 167-174.
- Wong CW, Mcnally C, Nickbarg E, Komm BS, and Cheskis BJ. 2002. Estrogen receptor-interacting protein that modulates its nongenomic activity-crosstalk with Src/Erk phosphorylation cascade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 99: 14783-14788.
- Wu Y, Zhao W, Zhao J, Pan J, Wu Q, Zhang Y, Bauman WA, and Cardozo CP. 2007. Identification of androgen response elements in the insulin-like growth factor I upstream promoter. Endocrinology. 148: 2984-2993.
- Wypych J, Bennett LG, Schwartz MG, Clogston CL, Lu HS, Broudy VC, Bartley TD, Parker VP, and Langley KE. 1995. Soluble kit receptor in human serum. Blood. 85: 66-73.
- Xu Y, Chen SY, Ross KN, and Balk SP. 2006. Androgens induce prostate cancer cell proliferation through mammalian target of rapamycin activation and post-transcriptional increases in cyclin D proteins. Cancer Res. 66: 7783-7792.
- Yan W, Linderborg J, Suominen J, and Toppari J. 1999. Stage-specific regulation of stem cell factor gene expression in the rat seminiferous epithelium. Endocrinology. 140: 1499-1504.
- Yarden Y, Kuang WJ, Yang-Feng T, Coussens L, Munemitsu S, Dull TJ, Chen E, Schlessinger J, Francke U, and Ullrich A. 1987. Human proto-oncogene c-kit: a new cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase for an unidentified ligand. Embo j. 6: 3341-3351.
- Ye Q, Chung LW, Cinar B, Li S, and Zhau HE. 2000. Identification and characterization of estrogen receptor variants in prostate cancer cell lines. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 75: 21-31.
- Young B, Woodford G, and Woodford P (2014). "Reproductive System," in *Wheater's Functional Histology A Text and Colour Atlas*, ed. Elsevier. 6th ed (Philadelphia: Churchill Livingston), 337-347.
- Yu L, Shi J, Cheng S, Zhu Y, Zhao X, Yang K, Du X, Klocker H, Yang X, and Zhang J. 2012. Estrogen promotes prostate cancer cell migration via paracrine release of ENO1 from stromal cells. Mol Endocrinol. 26: 1521-1530.
- Yu L, Wang CY, Shi J, Miao L, Du X, Mayer D, and Zhang J. 2011a. Estrogens promote invasion of prostate cancer cells in a paracrine manner through up-regulation of matrix metalloproteinase 2 in prostatic stromal cells. Endocrinology. 152: 773-781.
- Yu S, Zhang Y, Yuen MT, Zou C, Danielpour D, and Chan FL. 2011b. 17-Beta-estradiol induces neoplastic transformation in prostatic epithelial cells. Cancer Lett. 304: 8-20.
- Yuzawa S, Opatowsky Y, Zhang Z, Mandiyan V, Lax I, and Schlessinger J. 2007. Structural basis for activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase KIT by stem cell factor. Cell. 130: 323-334.
- Zadra G, Photopoulos C, and Loda M. 2013. The fat side of prostate cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1831: 1518-1532.
- Zeegers MP, Jellema A, and Ostrer H. 2003. Empiric risk of prostate carcinoma for relatives of patients with prostate carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Cancer. 97: 1894-1903.
- Zhang M, Ma Q, Hu H, Zhang D, Li J, Ma G, Bhat K, and Wu E. 2011. Stem cell factor/c-kit signaling enhances invasion of pancreatic cancer cells via HIF-1alpha under normoxic condition. Cancer Lett. 303: 108-117.
- Zhang Z, Zhang R, Joachimiak A, Schlessinger J, and Kong XP. 2000. Crystal structure of human stem cell factor: implication for stem cell factor receptor dimerization and activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 97: 7732-7737.
- Zhao ZN, Zhou Q, Bai JX, Yan B, Qin WW, Wang T, Li Y, Yang AG, and Jia LT. 2011. Estrogen-induced dimerization and activation of ERalpha-fused caspase-8: artificial reversal of the estrogenic hormone effect in carcinogenesis. Cancer Biol Ther. 11: 816-825.
- Zsebo KM, Williams DA, Geissler EN, Broudy VC, Martin FH, Atkins HL, Hsu RY, Birkett NC, Okino KH, Murdock DC, and Et Al. 1990. Stem cell factor is encoded at the Sl locus of the mouse and is the ligand for the c-kit tyrosine kinase receptor. Cell. 63: 213-224.

VIII. Publications and Communications
1. Articles in International Peer-Reviewd Journal

Figueira MI^{#,} Cardoso HJ[#], Correia S, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2014). Hormonal regulation of c-KIT receptor and its ligand: implications for human infertility? *Progress in Histochemistry and Cytochemistry* (In press). DOI: 10.1016/j.proghi.2014.09.001. IF: 5.909

Cardoso HJ[#], **Figueira MI**[#], Correia S, Vaz CV, Socorro S (2014). The SCF/c-KIT system in the male: survival strategies in fertility and cancer. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* (In press). DOI: 10.1002/mrd.22430. IF: 2.812

#both of authors contributed equally

2. Oral Communications

Figueira MI, Correia S, Vaz CV, Cardoso HJ, Gomes IM, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S. Estrogens down-regulate the stem cell factor (SCF)/c-KIT system in rat prostate: evidence of antiproliferative and apoptotic effects. IX ANNUAL CICS SYMPOSIUM 30th June and 1st July 2014, Covilhã, Portugal.

<u>Cardoso HJ</u>, Vaz CV, Correia S, **Figueira MI**, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S. Paradoxical and contradictory effects of imatinib in two cell line models of prostate cancer. IX ANNUAL CICS SYMPOSIUM 30th June and 1 st July 2014, Covilhã, Portugal.

3. Posters

Figueira MI, Correia S, Vaz CV, Cardoso HJ, Gomes IM, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S. The estrogenic regulation of stem cell factor (SCF) and c-KIT in rat prostate supports the protective role of estrogens in prostate cancer. 1st ASPIC INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS 25-26 November 2014, Lisbon, Portugal.

<u>Cardoso HJ</u>, Vaz CV, Correia S, **Figueira MI**, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S. Paradoxical and contradictory effects of imatinib in two cell line models of prostate cancer. 1st ASPIC INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS 25-26 November 2014, Lisbon, Portugal.

Estrogenic Regulation of the SCF/c-KIT System in Prostate Cells: a Relationship with Prostate Cancer?